Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 26, 2023 REVISED: March 8, 2023 ACCEPTED: March 14, 2023 PUBLISHED: March 28, 2023

Monopoles and confinement in three dimensions from holography

Antón F. Faedo,^{*a,b*} Carlos Hoyos^{*a,b*} and Javier G. Subils^{*c*}

^cNordita, Stockholm University and KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Hannes Alfvéns väg 12, SE-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden E-mail: anton.faedo@uniovi.es, hoyoscarlos@uniovi.es,

javier.subils@su.se

ABSTRACT: We study the phase diagram of a confining three-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric $U(N) \times U(N + M)$ theory with holographic dual corresponding to a known string theory solution. The theory possesses a global U(1) symmetry under which magnetic monopoles are charged. We introduce both temperature and an external magnetic field for monopoles and find that there are deconfinement phase transitions as any of the two is increased, supporting monopole condensation as the possible mechanism for confinement. We find that the transition as the magnetic field is increased is second order, providing the first example in holographic duals of a deconfinement transition which is not first order. We also uncover a rich structure in the phase diagram, with a triple point and a critical point where a line of first order transitions end.

KEYWORDS: Confinement, Gauge-Gravity Correspondence, Solitons Monopoles and Instantons

ARXIV EPRINT: 2212.04996



^aDepartamento de Física, Universidad de Oviedo,

Calle Leopoldo Calvo Sotelo, ES-33007, Oviedo, Spain

^bInstituto Universitario de Ciencias y Tecnologías Espaciales de Asturias (ICTEA), Calle de la Independencia 13, ES-33004, Oviedo, Spain

Contents

1	1 Introduction				
2	Confining ground state and monopole condensation	4			
	2.1 Confinement of electric charges and screening of monopoles	6			
3	Solutions at nonzero monopole magnetic field				
	3.1 Ten-dimensional ansatz and equations	9			
	3.2 Solutions and expansions	12			
4	Thermodynamics and the phase diagram	16			
	4.1 Thermodynamic quantities and relations	16			
	4.2 Phase diagram	19			
5	Discussion	24			
A	A Geometry of \mathbb{CP}^3				
в	Truncation to four dimensions	29			
	B.1 Holographic Renormalization	34			
С	Ground state	36			
	C.1 The cascade	38			
D	Calculation of the monopole-antimonopole action	40			
	D.1 Vanishing magnetic field	41			
\mathbf{E}	Numerics	42			
	E.1 UV expansion	43			
	E.2 Magnetized confining phase	46			
	E.3 Magnetized plasma phase	47			

1 Introduction

One of the main unresolved issues of QCD is understanding its phase diagram. In vacuum, QCD is a confining theory but, due to asymptotic freedom, for large enough temperatures or chemical potentials it should be well described by a deconfined plasma composed of weakly interacting quarks and gluons. At zero chemical potential lattice QCD can be employed to show a crossover between the confined and deconfined phases as the temperature increases [1, 2]. Unfortunately, the sign problem prevents from applying lattice QCD to regions where the quark chemical potential is comparable or larger than the temperature [3],

and we lack a first principles approach that can determine the properties of QCD in the intermediate sector of the phase diagram that lies between the region where lattice QCD is applicable and the asymptotic region where QCD becomes weakly coupled.

This is not just of academic interest, but some parts of the intermediate stronglycoupled region are accessible through experiments of heavy ion collisions and through astrophysical observations of neutron stars and binary mergers (see e.g. [4] for a review). Collision experiments may be able to reach a critical point marking the end of a line of first order chiral symmetry breaking phase transitions in the temperature-baryon chemical potential plane, conjectured to exist from phenomenological models. Neutron stars observations are sensitive to the equation of state in regions of low temperature and high baryon density.

A possible way to learn about QCD deconfinement transitions is to study similar strongly coupled gauge theories for which we have a known gauge/gravity dual pair. Even though we do not expect that there is a perfect equivalence between the phase diagrams, they may serve to understand the dynamics behind the transitions at strong coupling. There is a handful of confining theories with a gravity dual that have a realization in string theory. For instance, in four dimensions the best known are the Witten QCD (WQCD) [5] and Klebanov-Strassler (KS) [6] models. However, the WQCD model is really dual to a compactification of a higher dimensional theory and there is no separation between the confinement and Kaluza-Klein scales in the regime where the theory is under control. The KS model is more realistic, but it is technically quite challenging, among other things because of its exotic UV behaviour. One can avoid the issues of the WQCD and KS models if one is willing to move a bit further from QCD by going to three dimensions. Studying confining theories in lower dimensions has a venerable history, and it was in fact in this context where confinement was first proved by Polyakov for QED₃ [7], and confirmed later by lattice simulations [8].

In [9] the gauge/gravity duals of three-dimensional theories with a mass gap were studied in detail as a family of solutions of type IIA supergravity originally constructed in [10, 11]. The solutions are similar to the gravitational duals to ABJM [12] and ABJ [13] theories — indeed connected to them by RG flows — so they are expected to be dual to a quiver gauge theory with a rank and Chern-Simons level determined by the supergravity fluxes. The uplift to M-theory further revealed that despite having a mass gap, most of the solutions were actually not dual to a confining theory, just those for which the Chern-Simons level in the dual field theory vanishes. These last will be the focus of the present work.

In the absence of temperature and magnetic field the aforementioned theories have $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry (i.e. 2 real supercharges). Contrary to higher supersymmetric models, there are no non-renormalization theorems based on holomorphicity. Furthermore, localization techniques cannot be applied, so $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories are almost on par with non-supersymmetric models concerning the analysis of their non-perturbative properties. Although there has been some work studying the vacuum structure of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories [14, 15], as far as we are aware non-Abelian quiver theories with vanishing Chern-Simons levels like the ones considered here have not been studied before. In this regard, our analysis might also shed further light on the phase structure of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories.

The phase diagram as a function of the temperature was studied in [16]. In addition to the solution dual to the confined phase, there are black hole solutions that are dual to the deconfined phase of the same theory. The dominant phase is the one with lowest free energy, that is determined from the supergravity action of the dual solution. It was found that when the temperature is increased, there is a first order deconfinement transition, as it is commonly the case in large-N gauge theories.¹ In this work we will explore further the phase diagram by turning on an external magnetic field for a global U(1) symmetry. The properties of the supergravity solution, that will be discussed in more detail in the main text, suggest that the gauge group is $U(N) \times U(N+M)$ in which case the global symmetry would correspond to a magnetic $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ symmetry, as discussed in detail in e.g. [12, 21] for ABJM, with the conserved current equal to the Hodge dual to the Abelian flux of the diagonal U(1) gauge group.

The external gauge field couples to color magnetic vortices that have a dual description in terms of D0- and wrapped D2-branes. These can in principle be created by the insertion of a local magnetic monopole operator, with the brane attached to the location of the monopole at the asymptotic boundary. It is worth recalling at this point that the Abelian confinement in three dimensions described by Polyakov is produced precisely by a gas of Abelian monopoles akin to the ones we are describing. Similarly, in the Seiberg-Witten solution of $\mathcal{N}=2$ super Yang-Mills in four dimensions, confinement at a generic point of the moduli space is produced by the condensation of Abelian monopoles,² after the non-Abelian part has been Higgsed [22]. In our setup the $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ external magnetic field could have the effect of introducing a gap for the monopoles, thus suppressing their contribution to the path integral. Therefore our analysis can serve as a check of whether Polyakov's form of confinement still plays a role in a less supersymmetric strongly coupled non-Abelian theory, beyond lattice calculations.

Our results are summarized in figure 1. We observe that when the magnetic field is increased there is a second order deconfinement transition, suggesting that indeed there is a form of Polyakov confinement at play. To our knowledge this is the first example in a holographic dual of a deconfinement transition that is not of first order, of Hawking-Page type. The deconfined phase after the transition is distinct from the one found by increasing the temperature, they are separated by a first order phase transition. Although the transition turns into a crossover for large enough magnetic fields, some properties still remain quantitatively different between the two deconfined phases.

The outline of the paper is as follows: in section 2 we summarize the main properties of the supergravity solution and the dual field theory in the absence of monopole magnetic field. In section 3 we introduce the monopole magnetic field and temperature and construct the supergravity solutions, finding both confining solutions and black branes dual to deconfined phases. In section 4 we study the thermodynamic properties of the solutions and describe the phase diagram. Finally, in section 5 we discuss the results for the phase diagram, future possible directions and speculate about the interpretation of the D0- and

¹Otherwise, the Abelian deconfinement transition is expected to be of Kosterlitz-Thouless type, see e.g. [17–20]. ²In this case monopoles are line rather than local operators.



Figure 1. Phase diagram in the temperature, monopole magnetic field plane. The confined phase lies in the small temperature and magnetic field orange region, while the rest of the phase diagram corresponds to deconfined phases. The red, solid curve indicates a line of first order deconfinement phase transitions. The blue solid curve, however, stands for first order phase transitions between different deconfined phases. It ends at a critical point, represented by the blue square, where the phase transition becomes second order. Finally, the black, dotted line corresponds to second order deconfinement phase transitions. These three lines meet at a triple point, where coexistence of the three phases can occur.

D2-branes as monopole operators in the field theory. The main text is complemented with several appendices containing some technical results and derivations. In appendix A we collect some properties of the internal geometry. In appendix B we present a consistent truncation to four-dimensional supergravity. In appendix C we collect previous results for the solutions in the absence of magnetic field and temperature. In appendix D we compute the D2-brane configuration and action dual to a monopole-antimonopole pair. Finally, in appendix E we explain in detail the asymptotic expansions of the solutions and the numerical calculation.

2 Confining ground state and monopole condensation

The type IIA supergravity solution describing the supersymmetric ground state of the system was originally found in [11]. It takes the form of a stack of deformed fractional D2-branes corresponding to D4-branes wrapped on a two-cycle. The internal manifold is \mathbb{CP}^3 , seen as an S² fibration over S⁴, which is squashed with respect to the standard Fubini-Study metric (see appendix A for details on the geometry). The ten-dimensional

metric is supported by the NS three- and RR four-forms and it is regular in the IR, with a collapsing two-cycle and a non-collapsing four-cycle which are ultimately responsible for confinement in the gauge-theory side. For completeness, we give the exact gravitational background in appendix C. We will refer to this solution as the "ground state" in the following. The geometric mechanism for confinement is thus similar to other regular geometries with collapsing cycles in the internal space, like Witten QCD [5] or Klebanov-Strassler [6].

This solution is expected to be dual to a three-dimensional gauge theory preserving $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry, a non-conformal and less supersymmetric cousin of the ABJ and ABJM theories [12, 13], without Chern-Simons terms. In the absence of fractional branes, the dual was proposed in [23] to be a quiver with $U(N) \times U(N)$ gauge group together with bifundamental matter — analogous to the Klebanov-Witten quiver in four dimensions [24] or ABJM in three dimensions [12] — although the precise details are difficult to pinpoint, essentially due to lack of holomorphicity. The presence of M fractional branes should shift the rank of one of the gauge groups to $U(N) \times U(N + M)$.

Fractional branes also produce an unequal running of the gauge couplings. This results in an RG flow similar to the one described by the Klebanov-Strassler solution [6]. There is a cascade of three-dimensional Seiberg-like dualities — of the type introduced in [25, 26] — that reduces the rank of the gauge groups when one progresses towards the IR, until one is completely depleted, ending in a U(M) gauge theory and confinement.³

The type of cascade we just described was first identified in gravity duals of $\mathcal{N} = 3$ deformations of the ABJ theory [30]. It exhibits some important differences with respect to the four-dimensional Klebanov-Strassler case, most notably that it involves a finite number of steps so that the ranks of the gauge groups remain finite in the UV. This might be related to the fact that the gauge couplings of both groups are asymptotically free in three dimensions, in contrast to the four-dimensional case where one of the couplings always increases in the UV. We give the details of the cascade for the confining supergravity solutions in appendix C.1. A consequence of this analysis is that the rank N has to be an integer multiple of M in order for the cascade to be well defined and the background to be regular. Thus, in the following one should think of M as scaling like N in the large-N limit.

The homogeneous phases at finite temperature were found in [16]. At low temperatures the dominant solution is a confining thermal state which is obtained by compactifying the Euclidean time of the ground state on a circle. On the other hand, at high temperatures the preferred state is a deconfined plasma phase captured by a black brane solution. These two phases are connected through a first-order confinement/deconfinement transition at a critical temperature

$$T_{\rm c} = 0.2239\dots \ \lambda \left(\frac{M}{N}\right)^3, \qquad (2.1)$$

³It is also possible to modify the model by adding Chern-Simons terms for both gauge groups. The corresponding family of supergravity solutions was found in [10]. Several of its physical properties were analysed in [9, 27–29], including the fact that the topological interactions spoil confinement — in the sense of a linear quark/antiquark potential — leaving behind merely a mass gap [9]. In this work we will be mainly interested in the physics of confinement, so we will not consider the additional complications due to this deformation.



Figure 2. Left: difference in free energy between the deconfined plasma phase and the confining thermal state as a function of the temperature. When the curve is below the horizontal axis the plasma phase (black brane solutions) is dominant. There is a first order confining/deconfining phase transition when the curve crosses the axis. **Right**: corresponding curve for the entropy density as a function of temperature. At the phase transition, the entropy jumps from some finite value to zero, as depicted by the solid red line. We are plotting the quantities in units of the IR scale (2.2).

with $\lambda = g_s \ell_s^{-1} N$ the three-dimensional 't Hooft coupling, with dimensions of energy. At this temperature the free energy is continuous but the entropy jumps, as shown in figure 2. It is useful to define an IR energy scale associated to the deconfinement transition

$$\Lambda_{\rm QCD} = \lambda \left(\frac{M}{N}\right)^3, \qquad (2.2)$$

so that thermodynamic quantities will be measured in units of this scale. It can be seen that smallness of the ten-dimensional curvature in string units in the interior of the geometry requires $M \ll N$, so this scale is parametrically smaller than the scale λ . This last determines the transition between weak coupling in the UV and strong coupling in the IR, and determines the region of the geometry where the dual gravity description is appropriate.

2.1 Confinement of electric charges and screening of monopoles

The supergravity solution gives some clues about the symmetries of the dual field theory. In the reduction to four-dimensional supergravity there are two gauge fields that couple to D0-branes and D2-branes wrapping a \mathbb{CP}^1 cycle

$$A_{\rm D0} = C_1, \ A_{\rm D2} = \int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} C_3,$$
 (2.3)

where C_1 and C_3 are the one- and three-form RR potentials. The D0 field is massless, but the D2 field is not (details can be found in appendix B), so there is only one conserved current in the dual field theory. Following the arguments in [21], with Dirichlet boundary conditions for the gauge fields and the B_2 form, it follows that fundamental strings, D0branes, and wrapped D2-branes can end at the boundary. On the other hand, D4-branes wrapping a \mathbb{CP}^2 and D6-branes wrapping a \mathbb{CP}^3 are not allowed to end at the boundary, so there are no local gauge-invariant dibaryon or baryon dual operators, as expected for the $U(N) \times U(N + M)$ theory. The interpretation of D0-branes and D2-branes ending at the boundary is as local magnetic monopole operators. In the ABJM theory, when the ranks of the groups are equal, a more precise map was proposed in [21]. If we denote monopole operators as \mathcal{M}_{m_1,m_2} , with m_1 and m_2 the Abelian magnetic flux in each of the gauge groups, the D0-brane corresponds to an operator with magnetic flux in the diagonal group, $\mathcal{M}_{1,1}$, while the wrapped D2 corresponds to an operator with magnetic flux in the anti-diagonal $\mathcal{M}_{1,-1}$. When the Chern-Simons level k is non-zero, the $\mathcal{M}_{1,-1}$ operator is in a k-symmetric representation of the gauge groups, so it is not gauge invariant. This maps in the bulk to the fact that there is a coupling in the D2-brane worldvolume

$$\int_{D2} A \wedge F_2 \sim \left(\int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} F_2 \right) \int A \sim k \int A \,, \tag{2.4}$$

where A is the gauge field on the D2-brane. This induces a charge on the brane that has to be compensated by attaching k fundamental strings. Since in the confining geometry we are considering there is no F_2 flux, the Chern-Simons level is zero in the dual theory, and the monopole operator dual to the wrapped D2-brane is gauge invariant.

Given this map between branes and operators, it is natural to interpret the massless A_{D0} field as dual to the magnetic global symmetry with topological one-form current

$$J = \operatorname{tr}_{N} \star \mathcal{F}_{N} + \operatorname{tr}_{N+M} \star \mathcal{F}_{N+M}, \qquad (2.5)$$

with \mathcal{F} the color field strengths of the U(N) and U(N + M) groups in obvious notation. We will denote this global symmetry as U_M(1).

We will present some evidence in the following indicating that the solutions we are considering indeed describe a confining theory and that confinement is likely produced by monopole condensation in three dimensions à la Polyakov, at least for the Abelian component of the gauge group. The monopoles that condense are dual to the wrapped D2-branes, which in our setup are tensionless at the origin of the geometry and carry n = N/M units of D0-brane charge at the boundary (see appendix D for more details). The D0 charge appears due to the coupling of the D2-brane to the background B_2 form

$$\int_{\mathrm{D2}} C_1 \wedge B_2 \sim \left(\int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} B_2 \right) \int C_1 \,. \tag{2.6}$$

At the asymptotic boundary of the geometry the integral over \mathbb{CP}^1 of B_2 gives precisely the coupling of n D0-branes to C_1 . At the origin of the geometry the integral of B_2 vanishes, so possibly the D0 charge is screened as one progresses towards the IR.

To show confinement, we will discuss the potential between electric and magnetic charges showing that while it is linearly increasing for the first, it is screened for the second. The quark-antiquark potential was computed in [9] introducing a rectangular time-like Wilson loop in the usual way. The gravity description is a fundamental string attached to the curve defining the Wilson line at the asymptotic boundary. It was found that the quark-antiquark potential increases linearly with the separation, an indication of confinement. This is possible when the string tension remains finite through all the geometry, as one can easily check it is the case.



Figure 3. The action of a wrapped D2-brane, $\Delta S_{D2} = S_{conn} - S_{discon}$, as a function of length. The red dot stands for the transition between connected and disconnected configuration. Technical details of the calculation can be found in appendix D.

An indication that there is a monopole condensate is that wrapped D2-branes become tensionless at the origin, since the two-cycle they wrap collapses to zero size. If confinement was produced by monopole condensation as we propose, then we would expect that the monopole-antimonopole interaction would be screened. This can be computed in a similar way to the quark-antiquark potential by introducing a wrapped D2-brane extending between two points separated in a spatial direction at the asymptotic boundary. The action of this configuration, S_{D2} , gives a contribution to the spatial correlator of the monopole operators \mathcal{M}_{D2} dual to the wrapped D2-branes

$$\left\langle \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{D2}}^{\dagger}(x)\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{D2}}(0)\right\rangle \sim e^{-S_{\mathrm{D2}}}$$
 (2.7)

Contrary to the fundamental string, there can be a disconnected configuration where spatially separated D2- and anti-D2-branes extend along the radial direction all the way to the origin, since their worldvolume ends smoothly where the two-cycle collapses to zero size. In figure 3 we show the difference in action between the connected and disconnected configurations, as a function of the asymptotic separation between the branes. The details of the calculation are collected in appendix D. We can observe that for separations $L \gtrsim 1.069 \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^{-1}$ the disconnected configuration dominates, after the difference in action vanishes. Moreover, for $L \gtrsim 1.150 \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^{-1}$, the connected configuration ceases to exists after meeting with an unstable branch.

In the following sections we will introduce a magnetic field for the monopoles dual to the D0-branes. Since the wrapped D2-brane carries non-zero D0 charge, this could affect the monopole condensate, possibly even completely depleting it for large enough magnetic fields, in which case we expect that the theory would no longer be confining. As we will see, the phase diagram we find seems to confirm this picture.

3 Solutions at nonzero monopole magnetic field

If monopole condensation is indeed behind confinement, as the arguments of the previous section suggest, we should expect a deconfinement transition when the cost of introducing a monopole becomes too large. We will discuss now how to do this within the supergravity description.

As we have argued, the dual of a monopole is a D2-brane wrapped on \mathbb{CP}^1 , which close to the asymptotic boundary has an action

$$S_{\rm D2} = M \left(\hat{S}_{\rm DBI} - \frac{1}{g_s \ell_s} \frac{N}{M^2} \int C_1 \right) \,, \tag{3.1}$$

where we have extracted an explicit M factor from the DBI action, in such a way that \hat{S}_{DBI} is dimensionless and has no explicit dependence on parameters of the field theory like the 't Hooft coupling or the ranks of the groups (see appendix D for more details). We can modify the action of the wrapped D2-brane by turning on the C_1 form, whose components along the field theory directions correspond, in the dual theory, to the conserved $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ current and an external gauge field coupled to it

$$C_1 = g_s \ell_s \frac{M^2}{N} \mathsf{A}_\mu \mathrm{d}x^\mu \,, \tag{3.2}$$

where the normalization is chosen to match the DBI part of the wrapped D2-brane action. We can thus modify the action of the monopole-antimonopole configuration by switching on the spatial components of A_{μ} . In particular, a $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ magnetic field can be characterized in a gauge-invariant way and preserves rotational invariance, simplifying the analysis significantly. Furthermore, one might expect that a magnetic field would effectively gap charged degrees of freedom, which are the monopoles, potentially triggering a deconfinement transition. In section 4, by turning on such external magnetic field while keeping the monopole chemical potential to zero, we will see that this scenario is indeed realized in this theory.

3.1 Ten-dimensional ansatz and equations

All the solutions we will discuss are completely regular in ten-dimensional type IIA supergravity. The internal geometry is a particular realization of \mathbb{CP}^3 whose characteristics are given in appendix A. In the following we use the notation stated there. The solutions we are interested in asymptote to a stack of coincident color D2-branes in the UV, like the ground state and thermal backgrounds discussed in section 2. Inspired by this, we take the string-frame ansatz for the metric and dilaton as

$$ds_{st}^{2} = h^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(-\mathbf{b} \ dt^{2} + dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2} \right) + h^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{dr^{2}}{\mathbf{b}} + e^{2f} d\Omega_{4}^{2} + e^{2g} \left[\left(E^{1} \right)^{2} + \left(E^{2} \right)^{2} \right] \right) ,$$

$$e^{\Phi} = h^{\frac{1}{4}} e^{\Lambda} , \qquad (3.3)$$

with f, g, h, b and Λ depending only on the radial coordinate r. The function b in (3.3) breaks three-dimensional Lorentz invariance in the directions parallel to the color branes whenever it is non-constant. This is necessary both because we will look for black brane solutions and because charge or magnetic fields will be turned on. The internal space is topologically $S^2 \times S^4$, with the forms E^1 and E^2 spanning the two-cycle, of volume

 $X_2 = E^1 \wedge E^2$. This can be combined with another two-form J_2 to produce a closed form $d(X_2 - J_2) = 0$. More details about the internal geometry can be found in appendix A.

Our conventions for type IIA supergravity are such that the forms satisfy the Bianchi identities

$$dH_3 = 0$$
, $dF_2 = 0$, $dF_4 = H_3 \wedge F_2$, (3.4)

as well as the string-frame equations of motion

$$d * F_4 + H_3 \wedge F_4 = 0,$$

$$d * F_2 + H_3 \wedge *F_4 = 0,$$
(3.5)

$$H = E_1 \wedge F_2 - E_2 \wedge F_3 = 0$$

$$d(e^{-2\Phi} * H_3) - F_2 \wedge *F_4 - \frac{1}{2}F_4 \wedge F_4 = 0.$$

The Bianchi identities are solved by the ansatz for the forms

$$H_3 = dB_2, F_2 = dC_1 + F_2^{\text{fl}}, F_4 = dC_3 + B_2 \wedge F_2 + F_4^{\text{fl}}, (3.6)$$

where we have introduced the closed but non-exact terms

$$F_2^{\rm fl} = Q_k \ (X_2 - J_2) \ , \qquad \qquad F_4^{\rm fl} = q_c \ (J_2 \wedge J_2 - X_2 \wedge J_2) \ . \tag{3.7}$$

in correspondence with the two- and four-cycle respectively. It is instructive to explain the ansatz for the forms in relation to the consistent truncation and the four-dimensional model of appendix B. First of all, from the two fluxes (3.7) allowed by the geometry, we take the two-form to vanish, that is, $Q_k = 0$. This is related to the fact that we do not want to include a Chern-Simons term in the dual gauge theory (see eq. (B.24) and the discussion below it). The four-form flux on the other hand must be non-vanishing, so $q_c \neq 0$. This constant corresponds to the Page charge of D4-branes and it is therefore quantized. It is related to the shift in the UV rank of one of the gauge groups in the dual field theory M as

$$q_c = \frac{3\pi \ell_s^3 g_s}{4} M \,. \tag{3.8}$$

The ansatz for the form potentials uses the left-invariant forms defined in appendix A. It reproduces the one used in the reduction to four dimensions, eq. (B.3), that is

$$B_{2} = b_{2} + b_{X} X_{2} + b_{J} J_{2},$$

$$C_{1} = a_{1},$$

$$C_{3} = a_{3} + \tilde{a}_{1} \wedge X_{2} + \hat{a}_{1} \wedge J_{2} + a_{X} X_{3} + a_{J} J_{3},$$
(3.9)

The functions b_X , b_J and a_J are scalars from the four-dimensional point of view and depend solely on the radial coordinate r in (3.3). They are crucial to resolve the IR geometry of the ground state [9] and were non-trivial also in the thermal solutions in [16]. The additional scalar a_X is an axion — it appears in the equations always acted on by a derivative giving mass to a vector (see eq. (B.28)) so it can be fixed to any constant value, in particular $a_X = 0$. The rest of the terms are new with respect to [9, 16]. There are three vectors (one-forms) that we parametrize as

$$a_{1} = a_{t}(r) dt + g_{s}\ell_{s} \frac{M^{2}}{N} \frac{\mathsf{B}}{2} (x_{1}dx_{2} - x_{2}dx_{1}) , \qquad \tilde{a}_{1} = \tilde{a}_{t}(r) dt , \qquad \hat{a}_{1} = \hat{a}_{t}(r) dt , \qquad (3.10)$$

for some constant B. The prefactor has been chosen so that it corresponds to the physical magnetic field associated to the vector A, defined in eq. (3.2). As reflected in (B.29), this is a massless vector and therefore associated to a U(1) symmetry. On the other hand, according to eq. (B.28), the combinations $\tilde{a}_1 - \hat{a}_1$ and $\tilde{a}_1 + \hat{a}_1$ are Stueckelberg-coupled to axions and thus massive. They do not admit a magnetic field.

We are then left with the three- and two-forms a_3 and b_2 . The only non-trivial components allowed by the symmetries we want to preserve are

$$a_{3} = a_{t12}(r) \,\mathrm{d}t \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{1} \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{2}, \qquad b_{2} = b_{12}(r) \,\mathrm{d}x_{1} \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{2}. \tag{3.11}$$

Notice that the three-form lives in the external four-dimensional space and therefore it is non-dynamical. Indeed, it can be dualized to a constant Q_c as explained in eqs. (B.5), (B.8) and (B.9). This is manifested in the relation

$$a_{t12}' = -\left[\frac{e^{-4f-2g}}{h^2} \left[4a_J \left(b_X + b_J\right) + 2q_c \left(b_X - b_J\right) + Q_c\right] + b_{12} a_t'\right], \quad (3.12)$$

imposed by the equation of motion for F_4 . Ultimately, the constant has to vanish due to regularity conditions in the IR of the geometry, as argued around eq. (C.13). In the following we fix $Q_c = 0$.

Finally, b_2 can be dualized to an axion a, defined in eq. (B.27), which gives mass to the combination of vectors $\tilde{a}_1 - \hat{a}_1$. This means that the two-form does not contain independent degrees of freedom. Taking the axion to vanish, this is reflected in the relation

$$b_{12}' = -\frac{e^{-4f - 2g + 2\Lambda}}{\mathbf{b} h} \left[4a_J \left(\tilde{a}_t + \hat{a}_t \right) + 2q_c \left(\tilde{a}_t - \hat{a}_t \right) \right], \qquad (3.13)$$

which is deduced from (B.27) evaluated in our ansatz. This can be used to eliminate b_{12} (which always appears with a derivative) in the rest of the equations. The content of (3.4) and (3.5) is then the dynamics of three scalars and three vector potentials, two of them massive.

The equation of motion for the dilaton is in our conventions

$$R + 4\nabla_M \nabla^M \Phi - 4\nabla^M \Phi \nabla_M \Phi - \frac{1}{12} H^2 = 0, \qquad (3.14)$$

while Einstein's equations read

$$R_{MN} + 2\nabla_M \nabla_N \Phi - \frac{1}{4} H_{MN}^2 = e^{2\Phi} \left[\frac{1}{2} (F_2^2)_{MN} + \frac{1}{12} (F_4^2)_{MN} - \frac{1}{4} g_{MN} \left(\frac{1}{2} F_2^2 + \frac{1}{24} F_4^2 \right) \right],$$
(3.15)

in a self-explanatory notation. From this set, one gets second order differential equations for the functions in the metric and dilaton, together with a first order constraint. Overall, the system consists of 11 second order differential equations subject to a first order constraint for the set of 11 functions $\{f, g, \Lambda, h, b, b_J, b_X, a_J, a_t, \tilde{a}_t, \hat{a}_t\}$.

3.2 Solutions and expansions

In the following we will describe the main steps we took to construct the solutions at nonzero monopole magnetic field and describe their properties. A complete analysis can be found in appendix \mathbf{E} .

We will discuss two types of new backgrounds at finite charge/magnetic field. One type, the "confining solutions", ends smoothly when the two-cycle of the internal space collapses to zero size, similarly to the zero magnetic field ground state. The other are black brane solutions with a regular non-extremal horizon. Their thermodynamic properties will be explained in section 4. These solutions were found numerically by means of a shooting method. In a few words, we specified the desired boundary conditions both at the asymptotic boundary of spacetime (the UV) and at the origin/horizon (the IR) by using series expansions in the radial coordinate near these two regions. Such series are written in terms of a set of undetermined coefficients, which are fixed by demanding continuity and differentiability of the numerical solution at some intermediate point in the bulk.

It is advantageous to work with a dimensionless radial coordinate ξ such that

$$dr = -\frac{\rho_0}{\xi^2 \sqrt{1-\xi^4}} d\xi \,. \tag{3.16}$$

where ρ_0 is some constant with dimensions of length whose precise value will be determined presently. In this coordinate, the asymptotic boundary is at $\xi \to 0$ and the origin/horizon at $\xi \to 1$ for the confining solutions and at $\xi = \xi_h < 1$ for the black brane solutions.

Near the boundary we impose that all our solutions have the same leading D2-brane asymptotics, coincident with the ground state, except for the control parameters, which are in this case the magnetic field and chemical potential. In this way we ensure, through the holographic dictionary, that the gauge theory we consider is not modified in the UV. This condition fixes the value of ρ_0 to⁴

$$\rho_0 = |b_0| \frac{\ell_s^2}{2} \lambda \frac{M^2}{N^2} \,, \tag{3.17}$$

where b_0 is a dimensionless constant that is determined by imposing regularity of the confining solutions. At vanishing magnetic field its value is $b_0(B = 0) = -3K(-1)$, with K(m) the complete elliptic integral of the first kind. It turns out that $b_0 < 0$ for all the solutions we have found. For black brane solutions the value of b_0 can be taken to be the same as the ground state solution.

The boundary expansions of the metric and dilaton take the form

$$e^{2f} = \frac{\rho_0^2}{2\xi^2} \left(1 + \dots + f_5 \xi^5 \right) + \dots, \qquad e^{2g} = \frac{\rho_0^2}{4\xi^2} + \dots,$$

$$h = \frac{128 q_c^2}{15\rho_0^6} |b_0| \xi^5 + \dots, \qquad b = 1 + b_5 \xi^5 + \dots, \qquad e^{\Lambda} = 1 + \dots,$$
(3.18)

⁴The arguments leading to this relation are analogous to those resulting in eq. (C.15), which is recovered for the ground state value of b_0 .

where we have showed only the leading terms and the independent subleading coefficients appearing later in the expressions for thermodynamic quantities. Similarly, for the scalars the expansions are

$$b_J = \frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} b_0 + \cdots, \qquad b_X = -\frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} b_0 + \cdots, \qquad a_J = \frac{q_c}{6} + \cdots. \qquad (3.19)$$

Finally, the vector potentials are written as

$$a_t = \frac{\rho_0^3}{q_c} \left(v_0 + v_1 \xi \right) + \cdots, \qquad \hat{a}_t = \rho_0^2 \frac{2b_0 v_1}{15} \xi + \cdots, \qquad \tilde{a}_t = -\rho_0^2 \frac{2b_0 v_1}{15} \xi + \cdots.$$
(3.20)

It is convenient also to introduce the dimensionless magnetic field \overline{b} defined as

$$\mathsf{B} = \frac{1}{g_s \ell_s} \frac{N}{M^2} \frac{\rho_0^5}{q_c^2} \bar{b} = \frac{|b_0|^5}{18\pi^2} \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2 \bar{b} \,. \tag{3.21}$$

The dimensionful factors in (3.18)–(3.21) have been chosen in such a way that the coefficients f_5 , b_5 , v_0 and v_1 are dimensionless and moreover ρ_0 and q_c drop from the equations of motion.

The boundary expansion of the warp factor determines the number N of D2-branes as follows

$$h \simeq \frac{16}{5} \frac{Q_{\rm D2}}{r^5}, \qquad Q_{\rm D2} = 3\pi^2 \ell_s^5 g_s N.$$
 (3.22)

Comparing with (3.18), one can check, after changing coordinates according to (3.16), that this is consistent with the identifications (3.17) and (3.8). Among the coefficients that appear in the expansions, f_5 and b_5 in (3.18) determine the expectation value of the energy-momentum tensor in the dual field theory, while v_0 and v_1 in (3.20) are related to the value of the chemical potential and the charge density. To be more precise, the charge density is actually not only determined by v_1 but it also receives additional contributions depending on the magnetic field, as we will see in more detail later.

Let us now discuss the two different IR boundary conditions. These correspond to two different phases in the dual gauge theory.

Magnetized confining phase. One of our main results is that the confining phase is still present when the magnetic field is gradually turned on, but it disappears when the magnetic field is large enough. In the gravitational dual this means that there is a solution at finite magnetic field with similar IR boundary conditions as the ground state, meaning that the two-sphere collapses smoothly while S⁴ keeps a finite size (see eq. (C.3)). This implies that $e^{2g} \to 0$ when $\xi \to 1$, while e^{2f} , h and the dilaton remain constant.

We impose regularity on the solutions, which in this case also implies that the form potentials on the collapsing cycle — described by the form X_2 — as well as the associated radial flux, should vanish when $\xi \to 1$. Given the ansatz for the fluxes (3.9), this means that b_X , \tilde{a}_1 , and their field strengths should vanish in this limit. We also use the gauge freedom to set $a_t = 0$ at $\xi = 1$, although it can be shifted to an arbitrary value at the cost of shifting v_0 in (3.20). This freedom indicates that the solutions are actually independent of the chemical potential, which can be set to an arbitrary value. Notice as well that



Figure 4. Magnetic field, in units of the confinement scale (2.2), as a function of the IR value of the dilaton factor e^{Λ} . The ground state corresponds to $\lambda_{\rm IR} = 1$ and $\mathsf{B} = 0$, represented by the red dot. The magnetic field reaches a maximum value $\mathsf{B}_{\rm max} \approx 7.744 \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2$ and saturates to $\mathsf{B}_{\rm sat} \approx 2\pi \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2$ (thick segment) as $\lambda_{\rm IR} \to 0$.

nothing prevents us from compactifying the (Euclidean) time direction, as was done with the ground state in [16], so the solutions we discuss in the following should also be thought of as having an arbitrary temperature. The details of the expansion verifying all these conditions can be found in appendix E.2.

When solving the equations through the shooting method, it turns out that the magnetic field itself is not the most convenient label for this family because for values of B in certain interval there are two branches of solutions. An appropriate parameter is for instance λ_{IR} , the value at $\xi = 1$ of the factor e^{Λ} that enters in the dilaton ansatz (3.3). This parameter turns out to be restricted to the range $0 < \lambda_{IR} \leq 1$. The values of the magnetic field in this interval are shown in figure 4, where the horizontal axis represents λ_{IR}^{-1} . The value $\lambda_{IR} = 1$ corresponds to the ground state solution in the absence of magnetic field and is represented by a red dot on the figure. As λ_{IR} is decreased the magnetic field grows up to a maximum value $B_{max} \approx 7.744 \Lambda_{QCD}^2$, reached when $\lambda_{IR} \approx 0.0818$. Then it decreases, saturating at $B_{sat} \approx 2\pi \Lambda_{QCD}^2$ in the limit $\lambda_{IR} \to 0$. This gives rise to two branches of confining solutions for $B \in (B_{sat}, B_{max})$. Moreover, this points towards the existence of additional solutions that complete the phase diagram for values of the magnetic field beyond B_{max} .

Finally, it is worth stressing that all these confining solutions are regular at the origin, as the S² shrinks smoothly and the transverse topology becomes that of an \mathbb{R}^3 bundle over S⁴, exactly as in the ground state geometry (C.3). In particular, the curvature invariants evaluated at the IR are finite. As λ_{IR} decreases and the magnetic field saturates to B_{sat} , some of these curvature invariants grow, as seen in the left panel of figure 5. This could be signalling that an IR singularity is developing. However, all these solutions can be uplifted to eleven-dimensional supergravity. It turns out that in this limit the eleven-dimensional curvatures stay finite and saturate to a constant value (see right panel of figure 5).



Figure 5. Left: absolute value of the ten-dimensional Ricci scalar evaluated at the origin of the geometry, in string units, as a function of the IR value of the dilaton factor e^{Λ} . The solid curve stands for solutions with negative IR Ricci scalar, whereas for the dashed curve it is positive. **Right**: eleven-dimensional Ricci scalar evaluated at the origin of the geometry, in Planck units, in terms of the same parameter.

This hints that the family of backgrounds with these IR boundary conditions may be continuously connected to another branch of solutions, which would be singular from the ten-dimensional point of view but regular in eleven dimensions,⁵ perhaps extending to values of the magnetic field above the maximum we encountered. We have checked that the M-theory circle shrinks as the limiting magnetic field is approached. The arguments in [9] then suggest that this putative branch of solutions may be gapped but non-confining. This picture is supported by the behavior of the string tension computed from the quark/antiquark potential, which vanishes as $\lambda_{\rm IR} \rightarrow 0$ and the limiting value of the magnetic field is approached. This can be seen in figure 6.

In this work we focus on the phase diagram at nonzero temperature. As we will see in the next section the branch that reaches the limit $B \rightarrow B_{sat}$ is always thermodynamically disfavoured, so we leave the construction of this new branch at vanishing temperature for future studies.

Magnetized plasma phase. In order to complete the phase diagram at finite temperature we will construct black branes at non-zero magnetic field. These are dual to deconfined plasma states in the field theory side. The existence of a horizon is encoded in a simple zero of the blackening factor **b**. Regularity for the rest of the functions imposes that they reach a finite value, with the additional condition that the time components of the vector potentials must vanish at the horizon (see appendix E.3). The leading terms in the expansion of the metric and dilaton are

$$e^{2f} = \rho_0^2 f_h + \cdots, \qquad e^{2g} = \rho_0^2 g_h + \cdots, \quad h = \frac{128 q_c^2}{9\rho_0^6} h_h + \cdots,$$

$$\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{b}_h (\xi - \xi_h) + \cdots, \quad e^{\Lambda} = \lambda_h + \cdots.$$
 (3.23)

⁵This is not an uncommon feature and happens for instance if one turns on a Chern-Simons interaction in the gauge theory dual, as detailed in [9].



Figure 6. String tension in units of the confinement scale, computed from the quark/antiquark potential, as a function of the magnetic field. The red dashed line indicates the magnetic field at which the confining backgrounds cease to be dominant. The black, dot-dashed line corresponds to B_{max} while the orange dot labels B_{sat} .

The values of the dimensionless coefficients f_h , g_h , h_h , b_h , λ_h determine the value of physical properties such as the entropy and temperature. In this case we decided to fix the parameter b_0 — and accordingly ρ_0 through eq. (3.17) — to its ground-state value, $b_0 = -3K(-1)$, as in [16]. Then, in the shooting procedure all the coefficients of the IR and UV expansions are fixed except for three control parameters: v_0 , ξ_h and \bar{b} or, equivalently, the chemical potential, the temperature and the magnetic field. We have thus a three-parameter family of black branes. Their thermodynamic properties are investigated in the next section.

4 Thermodynamics and the phase diagram

In this section we discuss the main thermodynamic properties of the different solutions we have constructed. We uncover an interesting structure of phase transitions in the temperature and monopole magnetic field plane, focusing on the case of vanishing chemical potential. The map between parameters of the gravity solution and field theory quantities is collected in table 1 of appendix C.

4.1 Thermodynamic quantities and relations

The renormalized four-dimensional bulk action $I_{\rm ren}$ describing the system is obtained in appendix B.1. The free-energy density G of a particular state is given in terms of its Euclidean on-shell value by

$$G = -\frac{I_{\rm ren}}{\beta V_2}, \qquad (4.1)$$

with V_2 the (infinite) volume in the spacial directions and β the period of the compact Euclidean time. It is related to the temperature through $T = 1/\beta$. Ultimately, the final expression for the free-energy density (4.1) in terms of the parameters of the solution depends on the particular phase we are considering. For any confining solution, it gets no IR contribution (see eq. (B.52) and comments below) and the final result is

$$G_{\rm conf} = \frac{\rho_0^5}{2\kappa_4^2} \left(-\frac{7\mathbf{b}_5}{2} - f_5 \right) = NM\Lambda_{\rm QCD}^3 \frac{(-b_0^5)}{3 \cdot 2^{11}\pi^4} \left(-\frac{7\mathbf{b}_5}{2} - f_5 \right), \tag{4.2}$$

where in the second equality we have used the relation (3.17) and substituted the fourdimensional Newton's constant (B.18). On the other hand, in the plasma phase of section E.3, there is an additional contribution from the horizon of the black brane

$$G_{\text{plas}} = NM\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^3 \frac{(-b_0^5)}{3 \cdot 2^{11}\pi^4} \left[-\frac{7\mathbf{b}_5}{2} - f_5 + \frac{16\mathbf{b}_h f_h^2 g_h \xi_h^2 (1-\xi_h^4)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\lambda_h^2} + \frac{64}{135} b_0^2 v_0 (20\bar{b}b_0 + 27v_1) \right].$$

$$(4.3)$$

In this paper we work in the grand canonical ensemble: if there are different states at the same temperature, chemical potential and magnetic field, the preferred one will be that with the lowest free-energy density. In our conventions, G = 0 corresponds to the free-energy density of the supersymmetric ground state, which has T = 0 and vanishing magnetic field.

As usual, for black brane solutions the temperature and entropy density are quantities obtained from horizon data. The former is determined from the requirement that the solution has no conical singularity at the horizon. The latter is the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, given by the area of the horizon. In terms of the expansion parameters they read

$$S_{\rm plas} = \frac{\rho_0^3 q_c}{2\kappa_4^2} \frac{512\sqrt{2\pi} f_h^2 g_h h_h^{\frac{1}{2}}}{3\lambda_h^2} = NM\Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2 \frac{(-b_0^3)}{2^{11}\pi^3} \frac{512\sqrt{2\pi} f_h^2 g_h h_h^{\frac{1}{2}}}{3\lambda_h^2} ,$$

$$T_{\rm plas} = -\frac{\rho_0^2}{q_c} \frac{3b_h \xi_h^2 (1-\xi_h^4)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{32\sqrt{2\pi} h_h^{\frac{1}{2}}} = -\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \frac{b_0^2}{3\pi} \frac{3b_h \xi_h^2 (1-\xi_h^4)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{32\sqrt{2\pi} h_h^{\frac{1}{2}}} .$$

$$(4.4)$$

Notice that the entropy of the plasma grows as $NM \sim N^2$ in the large-N limit, as expected for a deconfined phase of a Yang-Mills theory. On the other hand, the entropy vanishes in the absence of a horizon, so for the confining phase $S_{\text{conf}} = 0$. Similarly the temperature T_{conf} is arbitrary, since there is no condition fixing the period of the time coordinate.

Our ansatz admits solutions with an external chemical potential μ . For the black brane solutions it is fixed by the asymptotic value of A_t

$$\mu_{\rm plas} = \frac{N}{M^2} \frac{1}{g_s \ell_s} \frac{\rho_0^3}{q_c} v_0 = \Lambda_{\rm QCD} \frac{(-b_0^3)}{6\pi} v_0 , \qquad (4.5)$$

demanding simultaneously that this vector potential vanishes at the horizon. In contrast, we need not impose such condition on the confining solutions, so μ_{conf} is arbitrary in that case. In this paper we only study solutions with $\mu_{\text{plas}} = \mu_{\text{conf}} = 0$. Nevertheless, we keep v_0 explicit in our formulas for completeness. We leave the problem of turning on the chemical potential for future work.

Despite the chemical potential being vanishing, some of our solutions, in particular the black branes, will still be charged. The charge density can be computed in several ways, for instance as the radial canonical momentum of A_t . Equivalently, as a constant of integration in the equation of the massless vector, which can be written as a total derivative (see eq. (B.14)). In terms of the parameters of the solutions it reads

$$Q = -\frac{M^2}{N} \frac{g_s \ell_s q_c \rho_0^2}{2\kappa_4^2} \frac{64}{135} b_0^2 (20\bar{b}b_0 + 27v_1) = -NM\Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2 \frac{b_0^4}{2160\pi^3} (20\bar{b}b_0 + 27v_1) \,. \tag{4.6}$$

Notice that the charge is not simply the normalizable mode in the expansion of the massless vector, v_1 , but it gets shifted by the magnetic field \overline{b} . This correction, which comes from the topological interactions in the action (B.31), is a reflection of the fact that Maxwell and Page charges do not necessarily coincide in the presence of such terms. The charge density vanishes identically when evaluated on confining solutions, $Q_{\text{conf}} = 0$, but it is generically non-zero in the plasma phase.

Varying the action with respect to the boundary metric we get the energy density, pressure and spatial components of the energy momentum tensor (B.53). They read

$$E = \frac{\rho_0^5}{2\kappa_4^2} \left(-\frac{7\mathbf{b}_5}{2} - f_5 \right) = NM\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^3 \frac{(-b_0^5)}{3 \cdot 2^{11}\pi^4} \left(-\frac{7\mathbf{b}_5}{2} - f_5 \right) ,$$

$$T_x^x = P - \mathsf{BM} = \frac{\rho_0^5}{2\kappa_4^2} \left(-\frac{3\mathbf{b}_5}{2} + f_5 \right) = NM\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^3 \frac{(-b_0^5)}{3 \cdot 2^{11}\pi^4} \left(-\frac{3\mathbf{b}_5}{2} + f_5 \right) ,$$
(4.7)

were M is the magnetization. These expressions are valid both for the confined and deconfined phases, since they are given just in terms of UV data. Note that the energy density E obtained from the energy momentum tensor coincides with the free energy density in a confined phase G_{conf} , eq. (4.2). Identifying the pressure as

$$P = -G, \qquad (4.8)$$

this is nothing but the first law of thermodynamics, $E + P = TS + \mu Q = 0$, in the confining phase, as the entropy and charge densities vanish. Moreover, taking into account eqs. (4.3) to (4.8), one gets as a consistency check that the first law also holds in the plasma phase.

Finally, from equations (4.7), (4.8) and (3.21), the magnetization can be written as

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\rm conf} &= NM\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \, \frac{3\cdot 5}{2^{10}\pi^2} \frac{\mathsf{b}_5}{\bar{b}} \,, \\ \mathsf{M}_{\rm plas} &= NM\Lambda_{\rm QCD} \, \frac{3\cdot 5}{2^{10}\pi^2} \left[\frac{\mathsf{b}_5}{\bar{b}} - \frac{16}{675} \left(\frac{27 \left(5\mathsf{b}_h f_h^2 g_h \xi_h^2 (1-\xi_h^4)^{\frac{1}{2}} + 4b_0^2 \lambda_h^2 v_0 v_1 \right)}{\bar{b}\lambda_h^2} + 80b_0^3 v_0 \right) \right] \,, \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

for the confined and plasma phases respectively.

These thermodynamic quantities should obey various relations, such as

$$\mathsf{M} = -\left.\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}\mathsf{B}}\right|_{T,\mu}, \qquad S = -\left.\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}T}\right|_{\mathsf{B},\mu}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad Q = -\left.\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}\mu}\right|_{T,\mathsf{B}}.$$
 (4.10)

Given that we have independent expressions in terms of the coefficients for the left hand side of these equalities, we can use them as a consistency check and to test our numerics.



Figure 7. Left: free-energy densities, as a function of temperature, for the magnetized plasma (solid curves) and magnetized confining phase (dashed lines) for different choices of magnetic field in the range $B \in [0, B_{triple})$, with B increasing from bottom to top. The phase with the lowest free-energy density is preferred, so we encounter a confinement/deconfinement phase transition when the two curves cross. Right: entropy density, as a function of temperature, for the same solutions. The dot-dashed curves indicate thermodynamically-disfavoured states of the system. The discontinuity at the phase transition indicates that it is first order.

We have indeed verified that the first two identities hold when evaluated on our solutions. Since we focused on the case $\mu = 0$, we do not have enough data to differentiate with respect to the chemical potential and examine the last identity for the charge density.

4.2 Phase diagram

In this section we analyze the phase structure of the system in the (B, T)-plane, determining the preferred phase for each choice of magnetic field and temperature. The two types of solutions that compete are the deconfined plasma states and the magnetized confining ones, both discussed in section 3. Their free-energy density is given in eqs. (4.2) and (4.3) respectively. In the grand-canonical ensemble, when several solutions exist at the same values of temperature and magnetic field, the one with lower free energy will be thermodynamically preferred.

A convenient way to visualize the different types of phase transitions that are present in the system is to examine how it evolves when the temperature is lowered while the magnetic field is held fixed. We identify two special values of the magnetic field,

$$\mathsf{B}_{\mathrm{triple}} \approx 1.152 \,\Lambda_{\mathrm{QCD}}^2 \,, \qquad \qquad \mathsf{B}_{\mathrm{critical}} \approx 1.615 \,\Lambda_{\mathrm{QCD}}^2 \,, \qquad (4.11)$$

where the qualitative behavior changes. Accordingly, they determine the following regions in the phase diagram of figure 1: **Region A** comprises the interval between zero magnetic field and the line of second order phase transitions at B_{triple} . **Region B** is the interval that lies between the second order phase transitions and the critical value of the magnetic field, $B_{critical}$, where the line of first order transitions ends. **Region C** corresponds to values of the magnetic field larger than the critical one. All three regions are defined for any value



Figure 8. Left: free-energy density as a function of temperature for three different choices of magnetic field around $B_{\rm triple}$, both for plasma (solid curves) and confining (dashed straight lines) states. The lowest curve has $B < B_{\rm triple}$, the central one $B \approx B_{\rm triple}$ and the upper one $B > B_{\rm triple}$. Right: zoom in version of the upper curve, where it can be seen that above $B_{\rm triple}$ the confining phase is disfavored. There is a first order phase transition between deconfined phases when the two solid lines cross.

of the temperature. Within each region, we find the following phases and transitions when the temperature is changed:

Region A: $B \in [0, B_{triple})$. The phase structure in this case is similar to that of vanishing magnetic field, discussed in section 2. In this region, we still encounter confinement/deconfinement phase transitions, which now occur between the magnetized plasma and the confining backgrounds with non-vanishing magnetic field. The effect of B in the free energy and entropy can be seen in figure 7. Qualitatively, it lifts the free energy of the two different states — the plasma and the confining one — but their overall shape is similar to the non-magnetized solutions shown in figure 2.

Another important feature is that the phase transition is still first order, since quantities such as the entropy (see the right panel on figure 7), energy density or charge density are discontinuous across the phase transition.

Region B: $B \in (B_{triple}, B_{critical})$. When the magnetic field is raised above B_{triple} there is an interesting effect. As shown in figure 8, a new stable branch of black brane solutions develops. The solutions on this branch have always smaller free energy than the confining ones at the same value of the magnetic field. In a sense, we can think of the regular confining infrared as being "covered by a horizon" above this particular value of the magnetic field. From the field theory perspective, this signals the loss of confinement. Consequently, for values of the magnetic field in this region, there is still a first order phase transition, but now taking place between two deconfined phases.



Figure 9. Left: free-energy density as a function of temperature for different values of B in the vicinity of the critical point, with the magnetic field increasing from bottom to top. The swallowtail is lost in the uppermost curves, which have $B \ge B_{\rm critical}$. Right: log-log plot of the entropy density as a function of temperature for the same values of the magnetic field. When the swallowtail shape disappears in the curves for the free energy, above $B_{\rm critical}$, the phase transition becomes second order at the critical point and a smooth crossover for even larger values of B.

This feature gives raise to a triple point in the (B, T)-plane, located in the intervals

$$\mathsf{B}_{\text{triple}} = (1.152 \pm 0.013) \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}^2, \qquad T_{\text{triple}} = (0.1456 \pm 0.0018) \Lambda_{\text{QCD}}. \tag{4.12}$$

At these particular values of temperature and magnetic field, three different phases coexist: the confining phase and two plasma phases.

Region C: $B > B_{critical}$. The first order phase transitions between plasma phases that were identified in **Region B** cease to exist above the critical value of the magnetic field $B_{critical}$. The passage from **Region B** to **Region C** is reflected in figure 9, where we see the loss of the swallowtail shape of the free energy characteristic of first order phase transitions. Therefore, for values of the magnetic field in this region, there are no phase transitions. Instead, thermodynamic quantities evolve smoothly between the low and high temperature behaviors.

This means that there is a line of first order phase transitions between plasma states ending at a critical point, where a second order phase transition takes place. As for the triple point, we can locate this critical point in the intervals

$$\mathsf{B}_{\rm critical} = (1.6145 \pm 0.0013) \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2, \quad T_{\rm critical} = (0.08801 \pm 0.00014) \Lambda_{\rm QCD}. \quad (4.13)$$

It remains to be seen how the transition between **Region A** and **Region B** proceeds as the magnetic field is increased for fixed temperatures below T_{triple} , since the low temperature phases in those regions are confined and deconfined respectively. As we mentioned, as soon as the new branch of black brane solutions appears, it is preferred over the confining branch. This is the reason why this transition becomes a vertical line sitting at B_{triple} in the (B, T)-plane. We will comment more on this feature in the discussion.



Figure 10. Charge density (left), magnetization (right) and entropy density (bottom) as a function of the magnetic field in the vicinity of B_{triple} (indicated by the black dot), for different choices of the temperature. In the confining phase, these quantities do not depend on the temperature, as indicated by the red, thick curves. The different curves, for any choice of the temperature, are continuous at B_{triple} , indicating that the transition is second order.

Moreover, picking any value of the temperature $T < T_{\rm triple}$, we can study how different thermodynamic quantities vary as the magnetic field is changed. As can be seen in figure 10, the charge, magnetization and entropy are continuous across $B_{\rm triple}$. This shows that the low-temperature confinement/deconfinement transition triggered by the magnetic field is second order.

All this information about the behaviour of the system can be summarised by the phase diagram in the (B, T)-plane, as shown in figure 1 in the Introduction. There, the various regions and different types of phase transitions we have discussed are depicted, together with the triple and critical points given by equations (4.12) and (4.13) respectively. It is also instructive to show on this plane how different physical quantities vary as we change the temperature and the external magnetic field. This analysis can be found in figure 11, where the density plots for the entropy density, charge density and magnetization are shown. These quantities change discontinuously across the line of first order phase transitions. Among them, the quantity that changes more abruptly is the entropy density. In contrast, both the magnetization and charge density are exactly zero for vanishing magnetic field,



Figure 11. Density plots of the logarithm of the entropy density (top), charge density (middle) and magnetization (bottom) as a function of the external magnetic field and temperature. The solid curves correspond to the line of first order phase transitions between the plasma and the confining phase (when $B < B_{triple}$) and between different states of the plasma (when $B_{triple} < B < B_{critical}$). These curves end at a critical point, represented by a square. Finally, the dashed vertical lines correspond to second order confinement/deconfinement phase transitions between the confining solution and the low-temperature plasma state. The triple point (4.12) is represented by a circle, where the three phases may coexist.

which means that their discontinuities become fainter as the magnetic field is switched off. Finally, it is interesting to note that both entropy and charge densities are constant (and zero) in the confining phase, whereas the absolute value of the magnetization grows with increasing magnetic field.

Notice that the confining phases that are thermodynamically preferred at low temperatures and small magnetic fields are continuously connected to the ground state with B = 0. This is the branch of solutions to the left of the maximum magnetic field in figure 4. The solutions to the right of the maximum are never realised since the plasma phases are always dominant for those values of B.

5 Discussion

The physical quantities plotted in figure 11 reveal several interesting aspects of the different phases. In the confined phase all quantities are temperature independent and the entropy vanishes, as expected at leading order in the large-N expansion. As a consequence, the energy density and pressure satisfy the relation in vacuum P = -E, and the pressure is negative. The low temperature deconfined phase also has a very weak temperature dependence, especially close to the transition where the entropy is very small. This results in a critical line between the confined and deconfined phases that is temperature independent. This is possibly a consequence of the large-N limit, similar phase transitions independent of thermodynamic variables are observed in other large-N setups, e.g. [31].

Comparing the low and high temperature deconfined phases, one can appreciate that, as alredy mentioned, while it remains mostly temperature independent in the first, but have a clear temperature dependence in the second. Also the entropy is much smaller in the low temperature phase than in the higher temperature one, even in the region where they are separated by a crossover, and the pressure and energy density are dominated by vacuum contributions $P \simeq -E$. This suggests that the low temperature phase retains some characteristics of the confined phase, perhaps indicating that a monopole condensate persists together with a plasma of monopoles in a normal phase, the last sourcing the non-zero monopole charge of the deconfined phase. Following this reasoning, in the high temperature phase one would expect a monopole condensate to be negligible or completely washed away.

Both deconfined phases have gravity duals that are black brane geometries. We thus expect them to behave as fluids at long wavelengths. Comparing the entropies, the low and high temperature phases resemble 'liquid' and 'gas' phases respectively. On the other hand, the viscosity of both phases is proportional to the entropy density, so that the viscosity is much larger in the high temperature phase, as can be appreciated in figure 9.

There are several directions in which the work presented here could be extended. First, it would be interesting to study in more detail the second order transition and in particular extract the critical exponents. At present we have not been able to do it because this requires finding solutions very close to the transition line, which is numerically very challenging. Finding solutions at very low temperatures is numerically demanding as well. We have been able to find some extremal solutions at nonzero magnetic field that we may present in a future work, but we have not determined yet whether they can be connected to the asymptotically D2 brane geometry, or if the right zero temperature solutions would be of a different kind. For instance, extending the unstable branch shown in figure 4 may require a different type of ansatz where the M-theory circle collapses to zero size at the origin. Extending the phase diagram to include a non-zero monopole chemical potential would also be interesting. Since there cannot be monopole charge in the confined phase this would likely trigger a phase transition to a deconfined phase with non-zero charge.

There are many physical observables that can in principle be computed from the solutions we have obtained so far. Related to the phase transitions the monopole-antimonopole interaction and the Wilson line are obvious ones, but also the entanglement entropy can contain some useful information [29, 32]. The spectrum of fluctuations around the solutions can also provide some valuable information. It is for instance unclear whether the $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ symmetry is spontaneously broken. If that were the case, there would be a gapless mode in the confining phase at zero temperature and magnetic field. If the mode exists it would be interesting to study how temperature and magnetic field affect its dispersion relation. In the black brane solutions we expect to have hydrodynamic modes whose dispersion relation would be interesting to obtain, as well as the value of other transport coefficients beyond the shear viscosity. In particular, since there are topological terms with field-dependent coefficients, it is possible that the Hall viscosity is non-zero through a mechanism analogous to the one described in [33].

Another interesting direction would be to study the phase diagram of a mirror dual [34, 35], in the particle-vortex dual sense [36]. For the amount of supersymmetry we are considering, mirror duality of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ QED was studied in [37], and there are generalizations for the Abelian theory of probe D2-branes on cones with special holonomy [38, 39], and for non-Abelian theories with Chern-Simons terms [15], but there does not seem to be an extension to the non-Abelian case for vanishing Chern-Simons levels. In our case the expectation is that in the mirror dual the monopole magnetic field would translate into a baryon charge density [40], thus allowing to explore "nuclear matter" in a holographic setup without having to introduce additional flavor D-branes or instantons on those.

A different extension would be to introduce the monopole magnetic field in theories with a mass gap that are not confining [9], by having a non-zero Chern-Simons level in the dual field theory. As we had discussed, in these theories the monopole operators dual to wrapped D2-branes are not gauge-invariant, and the massless field dual to the $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ current corresponds to a different combination of vector fields in the reduction to four dimensional supergravity (see appendix B). Consequently, the type of charged objects that might be able to condense would probably be modified. Whether this translates to qualitative differences in the phase diagram is an interesting question that might be worth exploring.

Let us finally speculate about the field theory dual to the confining solutions. As we discussed previously, the geometry is likely dual to a quiver theory with $U(N) \times U(N+M)$ gauge group and bifundamental fields. The field theory contains gauge-invariant monopole operators dual to the D2-brane that carry n = N/M units of D0-brane charge, with the D0-branes expected to be dual to symmetric monopole operators $\mathcal{M}_{m,m}$ in the notation introduced in section 2. In addition, in the reduction to four-dimensions described in

appendix B there is a topological term in (B.22) of the form

$$\frac{32q_c}{\kappa_4^2} \int \left(\frac{\hat{a}_1 - \tilde{a}_1}{2}\right) \wedge \mathrm{d}b_2 \,. \tag{5.1}$$

The vector field is the combination that enters in C_3 as the coefficient of a closed two-form in the internal space. This term would be non-zero if we had for instance components of the vector fields along the x_1 direction and of the b_2 form along the t, x_2 directions and depending on the holographic radial coordinate. Setting $\hat{a}_1 = -\tilde{a}_1$, the vector field and two-form couple respectively to a wrapped D2 brane and a fundamental string as follows

$$S_{\text{D2}} \supset \frac{1}{\pi g_s \ell_s^3} \int_{x_1} \tilde{a}_1, \quad S_{\text{F1}} \supset \frac{1}{2\pi \ell_s^2} \int_{tx_2} b_2.$$
 (5.2)

The natural normalization of the fields is $\tilde{a}_1 = \pi g_s \ell_s^3 \tilde{A}_1$ and $b_2 = 2\pi \ell_s^2 b_2$, in such a way that the vortex line associated to a D2-brane and the Wilson line associated to the string get multiplied by phases $e^{i \int \tilde{A}_1}$ and $e^{i \int b_2}$ respectively. This makes the topological term equal to

$$\frac{M}{2\pi}\int \tilde{\mathsf{A}}_1\wedge \mathrm{d}\mathsf{b}_2\,.\tag{5.3}$$

Since we have Dirichlet boundary conditions of the two-form, following the arguments in [21], there should be a \mathbb{Z}_M one-form symmetry in the dual field theory.

A possible way to understand the monopole spectrum and the one-form symmetry is if the theory originates from an orbifold

$$U(2N + M) \simeq \left[U_{\text{diag}}(1) \times SU(2N + M) \right] / \mathbb{Z}_{N+M}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad . \tag{5.4}$$

$$\left[U_{\text{diag}}(1) \times U(1) \times SU(N) \times SU(N + M) \right] / \mathbb{Z}_{M}$$

We will denote the original U(2N + M) theory as the 'parent' and the theory obtained after orbifolding as the 'daughter'. For N = nM, the fundamental representation with zero charge under the $U_{diag}(1)$ group splits into a $(N_{n+1}, (N + M)_{-n})$ representation, where the subindex denotes the charge under the non-diagonal U(1). Then, a Wilson loop in the fundamental representation of the parent theory would produce line operators of the daughter theory that are charged under the non-diagonal U(1), i.e. $W_{2N+M} \longrightarrow W_N W_{N+M}$ would have charge 1 and would not be gauge invariant. A line operator neutral under the non-diagonal U(1) could be obtained from the product of 2n + 1 fundamental Wilson lines in the parent theory

$$W_{2N+M}^{2n+1} \longrightarrow W_N^n W_{N+M}^{n+1} \equiv \mathsf{W} \,. \tag{5.5}$$

Using that $W_{2N+M}^{2N+M} \sim \mathbb{1}$, $W_N^N \sim \mathbb{1}$, $W_{N+M}^{N+M} \sim \mathbb{1}$ — since in all cases they would be screened by fields in the adjoint representation — we obtain $\mathcal{W}^M \sim \mathbb{1}$. This leads naturally to the \mathbb{Z}_M one-form symmetry.

Regarding the monopole spectrum, bifundamental fields would be in a $(N_{n+1}, \overline{(N+M)}_n)$ representation, thus having charge 2n + 1 under the non-diagonal U(1). The phase that a

particle in the bifundamental representation would pick when going around a monopole of charge \mathcal{M}_{m_1,m_2} is

$$\varphi_{\rm bif} = 2\pi \left(m_1(n+1) + m_2 n \right) \,. \tag{5.6}$$

For a symmetric monopole $m_1 = m_2 = \frac{1}{2n+1}$ is the minimal amount of magnetic charge allowed by Dirac quantization. The other minimal choice is $m_1 = \frac{n+1}{2n+1}$, $m_2 = -\frac{n}{2n+1}$. The symmetric monopole $\mathcal{M}_{\frac{1}{2n+1},\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ would correspond to a D0-brane, while the natural interpretation of the D2-brane carrying n D0-brane charge would be an operator $\mathcal{M}_{\frac{1}{2n+1},\frac{1}{2n+1}}^n \mathcal{M}_{\frac{n+1}{2n+1},-\frac{n}{2n+1}}^{n+1}$. This last would correspond in the parent theory to a monopole of unit magnetic charge.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Oren Bergman, Alexander Krikun, David Mateos and Ronnie Rodgers for useful discussions. Nordita is supported in part by NordForsk. We thank the PDC Center for High Performance Computing, KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Sweden, for providing access to the computing resources used in this research (project SNIC 2021/22-999). The work of A.F. and C.H is partially supported by the AEI and the MCIU through the Spanish grant PID2021-123021NB-I00 and by FICYT through the Asturian grant SV-PA-21-AYUD/2021/52177. A.F. is also supported by the "Beatriz Galindo" program, reference BEAGAL 18/00222.

A Geometry of \mathbb{CP}^3

In this paper we study solutions to type IIA supergravity whose internal geometry is \mathbb{CP}^3 . For completeness, in this appendix we give some details of this space and specify our conventions. For our purposes, the three dimensional complex projective space is seen as the coset $\mathrm{Sp}(2)/\mathrm{U}(2)$, which is a two-sphere S² fibered over a four-sphere S⁴. A suitable choice of coordinates goes as follows. Let ω^i be the set of left-invariant forms on the three-sphere, normalized so that $2d\omega^i = \epsilon_{ijk}\omega^j \wedge \omega^k$. A particular realization is for instance

$$\omega^{1} = \cos \psi \, d\phi + \sin \psi \sin \phi \, d\chi$$

$$\omega^{2} = \sin \psi \, d\phi - \cos \psi \sin \phi \, d\chi$$

$$\omega^{3} = d\psi + \cos \phi \, d\chi$$
(A.1)

with the ranges $0 \le \phi \le \pi$, $0 \le \chi \le 2\pi$ and $0 \le \psi \le 4\pi$. Then, the metric of a unit radius four-sphere can be written as

$$\mathrm{d}\Omega_4^2 = \frac{4}{\left(1+\zeta^2\right)^2} \left[\mathrm{d}\zeta^2 + \frac{\zeta^2}{4}\omega^i\omega^i\right],\tag{A.2}$$

with ζ a non-compact coordinate in the range $0 \leq \zeta < \infty$. Taking $0 \leq \theta \leq \pi$ and $0 \leq \varphi \leq 2\pi$ to be the angles on S², the non-trivial fibration is described by the vielbeins

$$E^{1} = \mathrm{d}\theta + \frac{\zeta^{2}}{1+\zeta^{2}} \left(\sin\varphi\,\omega^{1} - \cos\varphi\,\omega^{2}\right),$$

$$E^{2} = \sin\theta \left(\mathrm{d}\varphi - \frac{\zeta^{2}}{1+\zeta^{2}}\omega^{3}\right) + \frac{\zeta^{2}}{1+\zeta^{2}}\cos\theta \left(\cos\varphi\,\omega^{1} + \sin\varphi\,\omega^{2}\right).$$
 (A.3)

It is convenient to consider a rotated version of the vielbeins on the four-sphere

$$S^{1} = \frac{\zeta}{1+\zeta^{2}} \left[\sin \varphi \, \omega^{1} - \cos \varphi \, \omega^{2} \right] ,$$

$$S^{2} = \frac{\zeta}{1+\zeta^{2}} \left[\sin \theta \, \omega^{3} - \cos \theta \left(\cos \varphi \, \omega^{1} + \sin \varphi \, \omega^{2} \right) \right] ,$$

$$S^{3} = \frac{\zeta}{1+\zeta^{2}} \left[\cos \theta \, \omega^{3} + \sin \theta \left(\cos \varphi \, \omega^{1} + \sin \varphi \, \omega^{2} \right) \right] ,$$

$$S^{4} = \frac{2}{1+\zeta^{2}} \, \mathrm{d}\zeta , \qquad (A.4)$$

so that, despite the explicit dependence of (A.4) on the angles θ and φ , it is still verified that $S^n S^n = d\Omega_4^2$. Then, the metric on the coset reads

$$ds^{2}\left(\mathbb{CP}^{3}\right) = \alpha^{2}\left[\left(E^{1}\right)^{2} + \left(E^{2}\right)^{2}\right] + \sum_{n=1}^{4} \mathcal{S}^{n} \mathcal{S}^{n}, \qquad (A.5)$$

for some constant α controlling the squashing of the fiber over the base.⁶ It is also possible to write down the left-invariant forms on the coset in a compact manner using these vielbeins. This set contains the two-forms⁷

$$X_2 = E^1 \wedge E^2, \qquad J_2 = \mathcal{S}^1 \wedge \mathcal{S}^2 + \mathcal{S}^3 \wedge \mathcal{S}^4, \qquad (A.6)$$

as well as the three-forms

$$X_{3} = E^{1} \wedge \left(\mathcal{S}^{1} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{3} - \mathcal{S}^{2} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{4} \right) - E^{2} \wedge \left(\mathcal{S}^{1} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{4} + \mathcal{S}^{2} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{3} \right),$$

$$J_{3} = -E^{1} \wedge \left(\mathcal{S}^{1} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{4} + \mathcal{S}^{2} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{3} \right) - E^{2} \wedge \left(\mathcal{S}^{1} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{3} - \mathcal{S}^{2} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{4} \right).$$
(A.7)

These are related by exterior differentiation as

$$dX_2 = dJ_2 = X_3$$
, $dJ_3 = 2(X_2 \wedge J_2 + J_2 \wedge J_2)$. (A.8)

Higher-rank forms constructed by wedging of these will also be left-invariant. One finds the two four-forms $X_2 \wedge J_2$ and $J_2 \wedge J_2$, appearing in (A.8), together with the volume form on \mathbb{CP}^3 , namely $\Omega_6 = (E_1 \wedge E_2) \wedge (S^1 \wedge S^2 \wedge S^3 \wedge S^4)$. There are no adequate one- or five-forms. Moreover, the complete set closes under Hodge duality.

⁶There are two Einstein points: $\alpha^2 = 1$, where the Fubini-Study metric is recovered, and $\alpha^2 = 1/2$ where the metric admits instead a nearly-Kähler structure.

⁷The Kähler form associated to the Fubini-Study metric is in this language $X_2 - J_2$.

The ansatz for the fluxes in the main text is given in terms of these left-invariant forms. This symmetry ensures that the ansatz is consistent, meaning that the angles drop out from the ten-dimensional equations and there is just dependence on the radial coordinate. Furthermore, there is a consistent truncation to four dimensions keeping just the invariant modes that we detail in appendix B.

A crucial characteristic of this manifold is that it has a two- and a four-cycle given by \mathbb{CP}^1 and \mathbb{CP}^2 respectively. The two-cycle is specified in our coordinates by θ and φ at fixed coordinates on the four-sphere. We have thus the integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} X_2 = 4\pi \,, \qquad \qquad \int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} J_2 = 0 \,. \tag{A.9}$$

On the other hand, the four-cycle is obtained by fixing $\theta = \varphi = \pi/2$, in which case the following integrals are obtained

$$\int_{\mathbb{CP}^2} J_2 \wedge J_2 = \frac{16}{3} \pi^2, \qquad \qquad \int_{\mathbb{CP}^2} X_2 \wedge J_2 = -\frac{16}{3} \pi^2. \qquad (A.10)$$

Finally integrating over the entire volume we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{CP}^3} E^1 \wedge E^2 \wedge \mathcal{S}^1 \wedge \mathcal{S}^2 \wedge \mathcal{S}^3 \wedge \mathcal{S}^4 = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^3} X_2 \wedge J_2 \wedge J_2 = \frac{32}{3} \pi^3.$$
(A.11)

B Truncation to four dimensions

In this section we reduce type IIA supergravity on \mathbb{CP}^3 seen as the coset Sp(2)/U(2). Consistency of the truncation will be ensured by left-invariance on the coset. The result is a four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity, first obtained in [41]. Nevertheless, we will give the details to make contact with the variables used in [9, 16], keeping the vectors and forms that were discarded in those two references.

The expansion of the ten-dimensional fields is performed using the set of left-invariant forms discussed in appendix A. A particular realization in terms of coordinates is given there, which can be used for instance to compute the Hodge duals of these forms.

We choose to solve the Bianchi identities (3.4) as

$$H_3 = dB_2,$$
 $F_2 = dC_1 + F_2^{\text{fl}},$ $F_4 = dC_3 + B_2 \wedge F_2 + F_4^{\text{fl}},$ (B.1)

for some two-, one- and three-form potentials B_2 , C_1 and C_3 respectively. The internal manifold is topologically $S^2 \times S^4$, so it has non-trivial two- and four-cycles. This allows us to include the fluxes F_2^{fl} and F_4^{fl} for the two- and four-forms, which are closed but non-exact. In terms of the globally defined left-invariant forms they read

$$F_4^{\rm fl} = q_c \left(J_2 \wedge J_2 - X_2 \wedge J_2 \right) , \qquad F_2^{\rm fl} = Q_k \left(X_2 - J_2 \right) , \qquad (B.2)$$

with q_c and Q_k some constants, related to gauge theory parameters through flux quantization, as will be detailed below. The manifold does not admit a three-form flux. The form-potentials are written in terms of the invariant forms as

$$B_{2} = b_{2} + b_{X} X_{2} + b_{J} J_{2},$$

$$C_{1} = a_{1},$$

$$C_{3} = a_{3} + \tilde{a}_{1} \wedge X_{2} + \hat{a}_{1} \wedge J_{2} + a_{X} X_{3} + a_{J} J_{3},$$
(B.3)

where a_3 is a three-form, b_2 is a two-form, a_1 , \tilde{a}_1 and \hat{a}_1 are one-forms and the rest are scalars, all of them defined on the external manifold. This is the most general expansion compatible with the symmetries on the coset. Using these expansions together with the fluxes (B.2) the field strengths appearing in the equations of motion (3.5) are

$$H_{3} = db_{2} + db_{X} \wedge X_{2} + db_{J} \wedge J_{2} + (b_{J} + b_{X}) X_{3},$$

$$F_{2} = da_{1} + Q_{k} (X_{2} - J_{2}),$$

$$F_{4} = f_{4} + \tilde{f}_{2} \wedge X_{2} + \hat{f}_{2} \wedge J_{2} + Da_{X} \wedge X_{3} + da_{J} \wedge J_{3} + f_{0}^{X} X_{2} \wedge J_{2} + f_{0}^{J} J_{2} \wedge J_{2},$$
(B.4)

with the following covariant derivative and field strengths

$$Da_{X} = da_{X} - \tilde{a}_{1} - \hat{a}_{1}, \qquad f_{4} = da_{3} + b_{2} \wedge da_{1},
\tilde{f}_{2} = d\tilde{a}_{1} + b_{X} da_{1} + Q_{k} b_{2}, \qquad \tilde{f}_{2} = d\hat{a}_{1} + b_{J} da_{1} - Q_{k} b_{2}, \qquad (B.5)
f_{0}^{X} = 2a_{J} + Q_{k} (b_{J} - b_{X}) - q_{c}, \qquad f_{0}^{J} = 2a_{J} - Q_{k} b_{J} + q_{c}.$$

To complete the reduction ansatz we need to take the dilaton Φ to be purely external, while the string-frame metric reads⁸

$$ds_{\rm st}^2 = e^{\Phi/2} \left(e^{-2U-4V} ds_4^2 + e^{2U} \frac{1}{4} \left[\left(E^1 \right)^2 + \left(E^2 \right)^2 \right] + e^{2V} \frac{1}{2} d\Omega_4^2 \right) \,. \tag{B.7}$$

Substituting the ansatz in the type IIA equations of motion and separating the components containing the different left-invariant forms we get a set of equations of motion for the fields in the reduction. From the equation for F_4 we get the following. The terms proportional to the internal volume-form give the condition⁹

$$0 = d \left(e^{6U + 12V + \Phi/2} * f_4 \right) + 32 f_0^X db_J + 32 f_0^J db_X + 64 \left(b_X + b_J \right) da_J$$

= $d \left[e^{6U + 12V + \Phi/2} * f_4 + 16 \left[4a_J \left(b_X + b_J \right) + 2q_c \left(b_X - b_J \right) + Q_k b_J \left(b_J - 2b_X \right) \right] \right].$ (B.8)

This can be immediately integrated to trade the four-form f_4 for a certain constant Q_c such that

*
$$f_4 = -16e^{-6U - 12V - \Phi/2} \left[Q_c + 4a_J \left(b_X + b_J\right) + 2q_c \left(b_X - b_J\right) + Q_k b_J \left(b_J - 2b_X\right)\right]$$
. (B.9)

Next, the components proportional to $J_2 \wedge J_2$ give the equation for \tilde{a}_1 , which reads

$$d\left(e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} * \tilde{f}_2\right) - 4e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} * Da_X + 2f_0^J db_2 + 2db_J \wedge \hat{f}_2 = 0.$$
(B.10)

Similarly, the components containing $X_2 \wedge J_2$ yield the condition

$$d\left(e^{2U+\Phi/2} * \hat{f}_2\right) - 8e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} * Da_X + 4f_0^X db_2 + 4db_J \wedge \tilde{f}_2 + 4db_X \wedge \hat{f}_2 = 0.$$
(B.11)

⁸The relation between these scalars and the functions in the ten-dimensional ansatz (3.3) is

$$e^{\Phi} = h^{1/4} e^{\Lambda}, \qquad e^{2U} = 4h^{3/8} e^{2g - \Lambda/2}, \qquad e^{2V} = 2h^{3/8} e^{2f - \Lambda/2}.$$
 (B.6)

⁹In this and the following equations the Hodge dual "*" is taken with respect to the four-dimensional metric ds²₄ in (B.7).

From the terms proportional to X_3 one gets

$$d\left(e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} * da_J\right) - db_2 \wedge Da_X - (b_X + b_J) f_4 -2\left(f_0^J e^{-2U-12V+\Phi/2} + 2f_0^X e^{-6U-8V+\Phi/2}\right) * 1 = 0,$$
(B.12)

where f_4 is to be understood as given by (the dual of) (B.9). Finally we have the equation for the axion a_X coming from the components containing J_3 , which reads

$$d\left(e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} * Da_X\right) + db_2 \wedge da_J = 0.$$
(B.13)

Notice that this equation is not independent but given by the exterior derivative of either (B.10) or (B.11).

The equation for F_2 gives a unique non-trivial condition, which plays the role of equation of motion for the vector a_1 , and reads

$$d\left(e^{2U+4V+3\Phi/2} * da_{1}\right) + e^{6U+12V+\Phi/2} (*f_{4}) db_{2} + 8e^{2U+\Phi/2} db_{J} \wedge *\hat{f}_{2} +16e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} db_{X} \wedge *\tilde{f}_{2} + 64 (b_{X}+b_{J}) e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} * Da_{X} = 0,$$
(B.14)

where again $(*f_4)$ is given by (B.9).

Finally we have the equation for the NS three-form, whose component proportional to the internal volume form gives

$$d\left(e^{4U+8V-\Phi} * db_{2}\right) - e^{6U+12V+\Phi/2} (*f_{4}) da_{1} - 16Q_{k}e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} * \tilde{f}_{2} +8Q_{k}e^{2U+\Phi/2} * \hat{f}_{2} - 32f_{0}^{J}\tilde{f}_{2} - 32f_{0}^{X}\tilde{f}_{2} - 64Da_{X} \wedge da_{J} = 0.$$
(B.15)

Since the two-form turns out to be massive through a Stueckelberg coupling to a vector, we do not expect this equation to be independent of the rest. Indeed, its exterior derivative gives a combination of the vector equations of motion (B.10) and (B.11). When the parameter Q_k vanishes, it is convenient to dualize the two-form to an axion giving mass to a combination of the vectors, as will be detailed below.

The components containing $J_2 \wedge J_2$ yield the equation for the scalar b_X

$$d\left(e^{-4U-\Phi} * db_X\right) + 8Q_k e^{-6U-8V+\Phi/2} f_0^X * 1 - 2f_0^J f_4 - \hat{f}_2 \wedge \hat{f}_2 -4 \left(b_X + b_J\right) e^{-4U-8V-\Phi} * 1 - e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} da_1 \wedge * \tilde{f}_2 = 0,$$
(B.16)

while those with $X_2 \wedge J_2$ correspond to b_J and read

$$d\left(e^{-4V-\Phi} * db_{J}\right) - 16Q_{k}e^{-6U-8V+\Phi/2}f_{0}^{X} * 1 + 8Q_{k}e^{-2U-12V+\Phi/2}f_{0}^{J} * 1 -4f_{0}^{X}f_{4} - 4\tilde{f}_{2} \wedge \hat{f}_{2} - 8\left(b_{X} + b_{J}\right)e^{-4U-8V-\Phi} * 1 - e^{2U+\Phi/2}da_{1} \wedge *\hat{f}_{2} = 0.$$
(B.17)

The ansatz in [9, 16] is recovered by turning off all the vectors, the two-form and the scalar a_X , which solves their respective equations of motion and is therefore consistent. The remaining equations for U, V, Φ and the metric will not be presented in detail, since the only modifications with respect to [9, 16] come from the kinetic terms of the vectors and two-form, that can be inferred from the previous equations.

Defining the four-dimensional Newton's constant as

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^3} \frac{1}{16} E^{12} \wedge \mathcal{S}^{1234} = \frac{4\pi^4}{3 \left(2\pi\ell_s\right)^8 g_s^2} \tag{B.18}$$

the entire set of equations of motion can be obtained from the following action. First, we have the terms involving just the metric and scalars (in an obvious notation)

$$S_{\text{scal}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \left[R * 1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathrm{d}\Phi \right)^2 - 4 \left(\mathrm{d}U \right)^2 - 12 \left(\mathrm{d}V \right)^2 - 8 \mathrm{d}U \cdot \mathrm{d}V - 32e^{-2U - 4V + \Phi/2} \left(\mathrm{d}a_J \right)^2 - 4e^{-4V - \Phi} \left(\mathrm{d}b_J \right)^2 - 8e^{-4U - \Phi} \left(\mathrm{d}b_X \right)^2 - 32e^{-2U - 4V + \Phi/2} \left(Da_X \right)^2 - \mathcal{V} * 1 \right], \quad (B.19)$$

with the potential

$$\mathcal{V} = 128 e^{-6U - 12V - \Phi/2} \left[Q_c + 4a_J (b_J + b_X) + Q_k b_J (b_J - 2b_X) + 2q_c (b_X - b_J) \right]^2 + 32 (b_J + b_X)^2 e^{-4U - 8V - \Phi} + 64 \left[2a_J + Q_k (b_J - b_X) - q_c \right]^2 e^{-6U - 8V + \Phi/2} + 32 (2a_J - Q_k b_J + q_c)^2 e^{-2U - 12V + \Phi/2} + 4Q_k^2 e^{-2U - 8V + 3\Phi/2} + 8Q_k^2 e^{-6U - 4V + 3\Phi/2} - 24e^{-2U - 6V} - 8e^{-4U - 4V} + 2e^{-8V}.$$
(B.20)

On the other hand there are the kinetic terms for the vectors and two-form

$$S_{\text{vec}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \left[-\frac{1}{2} e^{4U+8V-\Phi} db_2 \wedge *db_2 - \frac{1}{2} e^{2U+4V+3\Phi/2} da_1 \wedge *da_1 - 8e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} \tilde{f}_2 \wedge *\tilde{f}_2 - 4e^{2U+\Phi/2} \hat{f}_2 \wedge *\hat{f}_2 \right].$$
(B.21)

Finally one has the convoluted topological terms

$$S_{\text{top}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \left[\left[64 \, a_J D a_X + 32 \, q_c \left(\hat{a}_1 - \tilde{a}_1 \right) + 16 \, Q_c \, a_1 \right] \wedge \mathrm{d}b_2 - 32 \, q_c Q_k \, b_2 \wedge b_2 \right. \\ \left. - 16 \, b_X \, \hat{f}_2 \wedge \hat{f}_2 - 32 \, b_J \, \tilde{f}_2 \wedge \hat{f}_2 - 16 \, b_X \, b_J^2 \, \mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge \mathrm{d}a_1 \right. \\ \left. + 32 \, b_X \, b_J \, \mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge \hat{f}_2 + 16 \, b_J^2 \, \mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge \tilde{f}_2 \right].$$
(B.22)

This reduced action is given in terms of the three constants associated to the fluxes, Q_c , Q_k and q_c , which correspond to brane charges and are therefore quantized. Indeed, imposing the quantization conditions [27]

$$k = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2 T_{\rm D6}} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} F_2,$$

$$M - \frac{k}{2} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2 T_{\rm D4}} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^2} (F_4 - B_2 \wedge F_2)$$

$$N = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2 T_{\rm D2}} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^3} \left(-*F_4 - B_2 \wedge F_4 + \frac{1}{2} B_2 \wedge B_2 \wedge F_2 \right)$$
(B.23)

and using the integrals (A.9), (A.10) and (A.11), one gets the relations

$$Q_c = 3\pi^2 \ell_s^5 g_s N, \qquad q_c = \frac{3\pi \ell_s^3 g_s}{4} \left(M - \frac{k}{2} \right), \qquad Q_k = \frac{\ell_s g_s}{2} k, \qquad (B.24)$$

in the conventions

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} = \frac{2\pi}{\left(2\pi\ell_s\right)^8 g_s^2}, \qquad T_{\mathrm{D}p} = \frac{1}{\left(2\pi\ell_s\right)^p g_s \ell_s}. \tag{B.25}$$

Notice that these correspond to Page charges, so the integers N, M and k count the number of different types of branes. However, Page charges change under large gauge transformations. This will be important later on when we discuss the cascade.

The parameter k corresponds to the Chern-Simons level in the gauge theory dual, which is vanishing in the solutions considered in this work. Moreover, regularity in the IR of the ground state forces $Q_c = 0$, as explained around eq. C.13, so in the remainder of this section — and in the bulk of the paper — we will fix $Q_c = Q_k = 0$.

In this limit the action greatly simplifies. First, the equation of motion for the two-form can be written as the total derivative

$$d\left[e^{4U+8V-\Phi} * db_2 + 64a_J Da_X + 32q_c \left(\hat{a}_1 - \tilde{a}_1\right)\right] = 0.$$
 (B.26)

In this way it is possible to dualize the form into an axion a defined as

$$* db_2 = 16 e^{-4U - 8V + \Phi} \left[Da - 4a_J Da_X \right], \qquad (B.27)$$

with the covariant derivatives

$$Da = da + 2q_c \left(\tilde{a}_1 - \hat{a}_1\right), \qquad Da_X = da_X - \left(\tilde{a}_1 + \hat{a}_1\right).$$
 (B.28)

This immediately shows that the vectors \tilde{a}_1 and \hat{a}_1 are massive due to their Stueckelberg couplings to the axions a_X and a. On the other hand, the remaining vector is massless and associated to a gauge symmetry in the bulk. Indeed, its equation of motion can be written as

$$d\left[e^{2U+4V+3\Phi/2} * da_1 + 16 b_X e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} * \tilde{f}_2 + 8 b_J e^{2U+\Phi/2} * \hat{f}_2 + 32b_J^2 b_X da_1 + 16b_J^2 d\tilde{a}_1 + 32b_X b_J d\hat{a}_1\right] = 0,$$
(B.29)

with the field strengths $\tilde{f}_2 = d\tilde{a}_1 + b_X da_1$ and $\hat{f}_2 = d\hat{a}_1 + b_J da_1$. This equation describes a massless vector, a_1 , interacting with the massive ones through non-diagonal kinetic and Chern-Simons terms. Then, it is dual to the global $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ symmetry we are interested in putting at finite density and/or magnetic field.

The suitable action reproducing the correct equations of motion reads in this case

$$S_{\text{scal}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \left[R * 1 - \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{d}\Phi)^2 - 4 (\mathrm{d}U)^2 - 12 (\mathrm{d}V)^2 - 8\mathrm{d}U \cdot \mathrm{d}V - 4e^{-4V-\Phi} (\mathrm{d}b_J)^2 - 8e^{-4U-\Phi} (\mathrm{d}b_X)^2 - 32e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} (\mathrm{d}a_J)^2 - 32e^{-2U-4V+\Phi/2} (Da_X)^2 - 128e^{-4U-8V+\Phi} (Da - 4a_J Da_X)^2 - \mathcal{V} * 1 \right]$$
(B.30)

for the scalars and

$$S_{\text{vec}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \left[-\frac{1}{2} e^{2U+4V+3\Phi/2} \mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge * \mathrm{d}a_1 - 8e^{-2U+4V+\Phi/2} \tilde{f}_2 \wedge * \tilde{f}_2 - 4e^{2U+\Phi/2} \hat{f}_2 \wedge * \hat{f}_2 \right]$$

-16 b_X $\hat{f}_2 \wedge \hat{f}_2 - 32 b_J \tilde{f}_2 \wedge \hat{f}_2 - 16 b_X b_J^2 \mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge \mathrm{d}a_1 + 32 b_X b_J \mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge \hat{f}_2$
+16 b_J² $\mathrm{d}a_1 \wedge \tilde{f}_2 \right]$
(B.31)

for the vectors. The potential \mathcal{V} in (B.30) is the one in (B.20) with $Q_c = Q_k = 0$.

B.1 Holographic Renormalization

In this appendix we perform the holographic renormalization of the action (B.30) and (B.31). The action takes the general form

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \left(R * 1 - G_{AB} D\phi^A \wedge * D\phi^B - \mathcal{V} * 1 - H_{IJ} F^I \wedge * F^J + L_{IJ} F^I \wedge F^J \right), \quad (B.32)$$

with $F^I = dA^I$ and $D\phi^A = d\phi^A + K^A{}_IA^I$. We take for the eight scalars in our truncation the ordering $\phi^A = \{\Phi, U, V, b_J, b_X, a_J, a_X, a\}$ and for the vectors $A^I = \{a_1, \tilde{a}_1, \hat{a}_1\}$. With this ordering, the (scalar-dependent) matrices H and L are

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}e^{2U+4V+\frac{3\Phi}{2}} + 4e^{2U+\frac{\Phi}{2}}b_J^2 + 8e^{-2U+4V+\frac{\Phi}{2}}b_X^2 & 8e^{-2U+4V+\frac{\Phi}{2}}b_X & 4e^{2U+\frac{\Phi}{2}}b_J \\ 8e^{-2U+4V+\frac{\Phi}{2}}b_X & 8e^{-2U+4V+\frac{\Phi}{2}} & 0 \\ 4e^{2U+\frac{\Phi}{2}}b_J & 0 & 4e^{2U+\frac{\Phi}{2}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} -16b_J^2b_X & -8b_J^2 & -16b_Jb_X \\ -18b_J^2 & 0 & -16b_J \\ -16b_Jb_X & -16b_J & -16b_X \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.33)

while the non-vanishing components of the gauging are $K^7{}_2 = K^7{}_3 = -1$ together with $K^8{}_2 = -K^8{}_3 = 2q_c$. Notice that the mass matrix for the vectors is then given by the product $M_{IJ} = G_{AB}K^A{}_IK^B{}_J$.

In our conventions, this same action reads in components

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \sqrt{-g} \left(R - G_{AB} g^{\mu\nu} D_\mu \phi^A D_\nu \phi^B - \mathcal{V} - \frac{1}{2} H_{IJ} g^{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\sigma} F^I_{\mu\rho} F^J_{\nu\sigma} \right) \mathrm{d}^4 x + S_{\mathrm{top}} \,, \quad (\mathrm{B.34})$$

with the topological term

$$S_{\rm top} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \frac{1}{4} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} L_{IJ} F^I_{\mu\nu} F^J_{\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{B.35}$$

Here $\tilde{\epsilon}$ is the Levi-Civita symbol (not tensor) verifying

$$\mathrm{d}x^{\mu} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{\nu} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{\rho} \wedge \mathrm{d}x^{\sigma} = \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \mathrm{d}^{4}x \,. \tag{B.36}$$

Maxwell's equations deriving from this action are (recall that $\tilde{\epsilon}^{\nu\mu\rho\sigma}\partial_{\mu}F^{J}_{\rho\sigma} = 0$ because of the Bianchi identity)

$$\partial_{\mu} \left(\sqrt{-g} H_{IJ} g^{\mu\rho} g^{\nu\sigma} F^{J}_{\rho\sigma} \right) - \sqrt{-g} G_{AB} K^{B}{}_{I} g^{\nu\mu} D_{\mu} \phi^{A} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\nu\mu\rho\sigma} F^{J}_{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} L_{IJ} = 0, \qquad (B.37)$$

while Einstein's equations read

$$R_{\mu\nu} = G_{AB} D_{\mu} \phi^{A} D_{\nu} \phi^{B} + \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{V} + H_{IJ} g^{\rho\sigma} F^{I}_{\mu\rho} F^{J}_{\nu\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} H_{IJ} g_{\mu\nu} F^{I}_{\rho\sigma} F^{J\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{B.38}$$

Our task is to write the on-shell action as a total derivative. Let us first manipulate the gravitating part of the action in (B.34). The trace of Einstein's equations gives

$$R - G_{AB}g^{\mu\nu}D_{\mu}\phi^{A}D_{\nu}\phi^{B} = 2\mathcal{V}, \qquad (B.39)$$

so the on-shell action reduces to

$$I_{\rm grav} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \sqrt{-g} \left(\mathcal{V} - \frac{1}{2} H_{IJ} g^{\mu\nu} g^{\rho\sigma} F^I_{\mu\rho} F^J_{\nu\sigma} \right) d^4x \,. \tag{B.40}$$

Next, for a diagonal metric

$$ds^{2} = g_{tt}dt^{2} + g_{xx}dx^{2} + g_{yy}dy^{2} + g_{rr}dr^{2}, \qquad (B.41)$$

with the metric components depending only on r, the mixed tt component of Einstein's equations reads

$$R^{t}_{\ t} = g^{tt}G_{AB}K^{A}_{\ I}K^{B}_{\ J}A^{I}_{t}A^{J}_{t} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{V} + H_{IJ}g^{tt}g^{\rho\sigma}F^{I}_{t\rho}F^{J}_{t\sigma} - \frac{1}{4}H_{IJ}F^{I}_{\rho\sigma}F^{J\rho\sigma}, \qquad (B.42)$$

where we have imposed that $\phi^A = \phi^A(r)$. Using this we can get rid of the potential in the action, that results

$$I_{\rm grav} = \frac{1}{\kappa_4^2} \int \sqrt{-g} \left(R^t{}_t - g^{tt} G_{AB} K^A{}_I K^B{}_J A^I_t A^J_t - H_{IJ} g^{tt} g^{\rho\sigma} F^I_{t\rho} F^J_{t\sigma} \right) d^4x \,. \tag{B.43}$$

Now we want to eliminate the mass term for the vectors. In order to do so, we use the temporal component of Maxwell's equations

$$\partial_r \left(\sqrt{-g} H_{IJ} g^{rr} g^{tt} F_{rt} \right) - \sqrt{-g} g^{tt} G_{AB} K^A{}_I K^B{}_J A^J_t + \tilde{\epsilon}^{trxy} F^J_{xy} \partial_r L_{IJ} = 0, \qquad (B.44)$$

where we have imposed that in our ansatz the only non-vanishing components of the field strengths are F_{rt}^I and F_{xy}^I . Substituting this in the mass term in the action and taking into account that $F_{rt}^I = \partial_r A_t^I$ we get

$$I_{\rm grav} = \frac{1}{\kappa_4^2} \int \left[\sqrt{-g} R^t_{\ t} - \partial_r \left(\sqrt{-g} H_{IJ} A^I_t F^{J \, rt} \right) - \tilde{\epsilon}^{trxy} A^I_t F^J_{xy} \partial_r L_{IJ} \right] \mathrm{d}^4 x \,. \tag{B.45}$$

The last term is not yet a total derivative, but we can combine it with the topological one

$$I_{\rm top} = \frac{1}{\kappa_4^2} \int \tilde{\epsilon}^{rtxy} L_{IJ} F_{rt}^I F_{xy}^J \,, \tag{B.46}$$

so that the total on-shell action reads

$$I_{\rm grav} + I_{\rm top} = \frac{1}{\kappa_4^2} \int \left[\sqrt{-g} R^t_{\ t} - \partial_r \left(\sqrt{-g} H_{IJ} A^I_t F^{J \ rt} \right) - \partial_r \left(\tilde{\epsilon}^{trxy} L_{IJ} A^I_t F^J_{xy} \right) \right] \mathrm{d}^4 x \,. \quad (B.47)$$

Finally, it is always verified for this type of metrics that

$$R^{t}_{t} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_r \left(\sqrt{-\gamma} K^{t}_{t} \right)$$
(B.48)

with K_t^t the temporal component of the extrinsic curvature and γ the boundary metric. In this way the complete on-shell action is a total derivative.

This is generically UV-divergent and has to be regularized by introducing a UV cutoff Λ_{UV} . To renormalize we need to add the Gibbons-Hawking term

$$I_{\rm GH} = \frac{1}{\kappa_4^2} \int \sqrt{-\gamma} K \mathrm{d}^3 x \,, \tag{B.49}$$

with K the trace of the extrinsic curvature. The appropriate counterterm to regularize the scalar contributions (we do not expect divergencies from the vectors) is

$$I_{\rm ct} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} \int \sqrt{-\gamma} 4\mathcal{W} \mathrm{d}^3 x \tag{B.50}$$

with \mathcal{W} the superpotential

$$\mathcal{W} = e^{-4V} + 2e^{-2U-2V} - 8e^{-3U-6V-\Phi/4} \left[2a_J \left(b_J + b_X \right) + q_c \left(b_X - b_J \right) \right] .$$
(B.51)

In this way, the on-shell action plus these contributions is finite and we can remove the cutoff. The complete renormalized action is then

$$I_{\rm ren} = -\frac{\beta V_2}{\kappa_4^2} \lim_{\Lambda_{\rm UV} \to \infty} \left[\sqrt{-\gamma} \left(K^t{}_t - K + 2\mathcal{W} \right) - \sqrt{-g} H_{IJ} A^I_t F^{J\,rt} - \tilde{\epsilon}^{trxy} L_{IJ} A^I_t F^J_{xy} \right]_{\Lambda_{\rm UV}} + \frac{\beta V_2}{\kappa_4^2} \left[\sqrt{-\gamma} K^t{}_t - \sqrt{-g} H_{IJ} A^I_t F^{J\,rt} - \tilde{\epsilon}^{trxy} L_{IJ} A^I_t F^J_{xy} \right]_{r_H}$$
(B.52)

for solutions that have a horizon, such as the black branes of section E.3. For the solutions with confining IR conditions of section E.2 the only contribution comes from the boundary, so the second line is absent.

From this renormalized action we can compute the energy momentum tensor of the dual gauge theory by varying with respect to the induced metric, evaluated at the boundary. It is related to the energy density, pressure, magnetic field and magnetization density as [42]

$$T^{i}_{j} = -\frac{1}{\kappa_{4}} \lim_{\Lambda_{\rm UV} \to \infty} \left[\sqrt{-\gamma} \left(K^{i}_{j} - \delta^{i}_{j} (K - 2\mathcal{W}) \right) \right]_{\Lambda_{\rm UV}} = \operatorname{diag}(-E, P - \mathsf{BM}, P - \mathsf{BM}),$$
(B.53)

where E is the energy density, P is the pressure, B is the magnetic field and M is the magnetization.

C Ground state

The confining ground state solution is given by the D2-like string-frame metric

$$ds_{st}^2 = h^{-1/2} dx_{1,2}^2 + h^{1/2} ds_7^2, \qquad (C.1)$$

with the transverse metric

$$\mathrm{d}s_7^2 = \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho^2}{\left(1 - \frac{\rho_0^4}{\rho^4}\right)} + \frac{1}{4}\,\rho^2\left(1 - \frac{\rho_0^4}{\rho^4}\right)\left[\left(E^1\right)^2 + \left(E^2\right)^2\right] + \frac{1}{2}\,\rho^2\,\mathrm{d}\Omega_4^2\,.\tag{C.2}$$

This space ends at $\rho = \rho_0$, where the metric in the radial coordinate $\rho_0 (\rho - \rho_0) = \tilde{\rho}^2$ turns into

$$ds_7^2 = d\tilde{\rho}^2 + \tilde{\rho}^2 \left[\left(E^1 \right)^2 + \left(E^2 \right)^2 \right] + \frac{1}{2} \rho_0^2 d\Omega_4^2.$$
 (C.3)

which is regular.¹⁰ Moreover, in terms of the dimensionless radial coordinate $z = \rho/\rho_0$ the warp factor is given by

$$h = \frac{128 q_c^2}{9 \rho_0^6} \int_z^\infty \left[\frac{2 - 3\sigma^4}{\sigma^3 (\sigma^4 - 1)^2} + \frac{(4 - 9\sigma^4 + 9\sigma^8) \mathcal{U}(\sigma)}{\sigma^4 (\sigma^4 - 1)^{5/2}} + \frac{2(1 - 3\sigma^4) \mathcal{U}(\sigma)^2}{\sigma^5 (\sigma^4 - 1)^3} \right] \mathrm{d}\sigma \,. \quad (\mathrm{C.4})$$

The (dimensionless) function \mathcal{U} is defined as

$$\mathcal{U}(z) = \int_{1}^{z} \left(\sigma^{4} - 1\right)^{-1/2} \mathrm{d}\sigma = K\left(-1\right) - F\left(\operatorname{arccsc} z | -1\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(5/4\right)}{\Gamma\left(3/4\right)} - F\left(\operatorname{arccsc} z | -1\right),$$
(C.5)

with K(m) the complete elliptic integral of the first kind and $F(\phi|m)$ the elliptic integral of the first kind. This warp factor is finite as $z \to 1$ so the entire ten-dimensional metric is regular in this limit. On the other hand, it has the following leading behavior at the UV

$$h = \frac{128 q_c^2 K (-1)}{5 \rho_0^6} \frac{1}{z^5} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) \right] = \frac{128 q_c^2 K (-1)}{5 \rho_0} \frac{1}{\rho^5} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\rho}\right) \right].$$
(C.6)

Notice that the warp factor does not depend at all on the parameter Q_c that, according to (B.24), counts the number of (ordinary) D2-branes, so in particular one could force it to vanish.

The general fluxes regularizing the solution are given by (B.3) with $b_2 = a_1 = a_3 = \tilde{a}_1 = \hat{a}_1 = a_X = 0$ and

$$b_{J} = \frac{Q_{c}}{4q_{c}} + \frac{2q_{c}}{3\rho_{0}} \left[\frac{z\sqrt{z^{4}-1} - (3z^{4}-1)\mathcal{U}(z)}{z^{4}-1} \right],$$

$$b_{X} = -\frac{Q_{c}}{4q_{c}} - \frac{2q_{c}}{3\rho_{0}} \left[\frac{z\sqrt{z^{4}-1} - (3z^{4}-1)\mathcal{U}(z)}{z^{4}} \right],$$

$$a_{J} = \frac{q_{c}}{6} + \frac{2q_{c}\mathcal{U}(z)}{3z\sqrt{z^{4}-1}}.$$

(C.7)

Moreover, the two-form F_2 is vanishing, which in particular means that $Q_k = 0$ and therefore there is no Chern-Simons term.

The three-form flux is non-vanishing in the IR. In terms of the flat-space radial coordinate reads

$$H_{\rm IR} = -\frac{4q_c}{3\rho_0^2} \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\rho} \wedge J_2\,,\tag{C.8}$$

while the only remaining piece of the four-form is the flux on the four-cycle

$$F_4^{\rm IR} = 2q_c \, J_2 \wedge J_2 \,.$$
 (C.9)

Throughout the paper we will encounter several quantities defined in the gravity theory that translate to different field theory parameters. Although the map is explained at the relevant points in the discussion, in order to facilitate the reader the conversion between the two, we give a complete set of relations in table 1.

¹⁰It is topologically an \mathbb{R}^3 bundle over S^4 .

$2\kappa_{10}^2 = (2\pi)^7 g_s^2 \ell_s^8$	$2\kappa_4^2 = 3 \cdot 2^6 \pi^4 g_s^2 \ell_s^8$	$T_{\mathrm{D}p} = \frac{1}{(2\pi\ell_s)^p g_s \ell_s}$				
$q_c = \frac{3\pi}{4} g_s \ell_s^3 M$	$Q_{\rm D2} = 3\pi^2 g_s \ell_s^5 N$	$\rho_0 = \frac{ b_0 }{2} g_s \ell_s \frac{M^2}{N}$				
$b_0(B=0) = -3K(-1)$	$\lambda = g_s \ell_s^{-1} N$	$\Lambda_{\rm QCD} = \lambda \left(\frac{M}{N}\right)^3$				

Table 1. Dictionary between gravity and field theory parameters. N and M determine the rank of the gauge groups, λ is the 't Hooft coupling and $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ the characteristic scale of confinement. On the gravity side q_c is the F_4 flux in the internal space, $Q_{\rm D2}$ is the coefficient of the warp factor when the geometry asymptotes to that of color D2-branes, ρ_0 determines the radial position where the two-cycle in the geometry collapses to zero size and b_0 is a numerical integration constant determined by the equations of motion and regularity. The remaining g_s and ℓ_s are the string coupling and length, κ_{10}^2 and κ_4^2 are the gravitational constants in the ten- and four-dimensional theories respectively, and $T_{\rm Dp}$ is the D*p*-brane tension.

C.1 The cascade

In this section we discuss how the supergravity solution implements the gauge-theory cascade, which is similar to the cascade of $\mathcal{N} = 3$ deformations of ABJ [30]. A related analysis, in the presence of Chern-Simons terms, can be found in [27].

The two-form potential on the two-cycle — corresponding to the difference between the (inverse) gauge couplings of both gauge groups in the quiver — is

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi\ell_s)^2} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} B_2 = \frac{b_X}{\pi\ell_s^2} = b_\infty \mathcal{B}(z) + \frac{Q_c}{4\pi\ell_s^2 q_c} \left[\mathcal{B}(z) - 1 \right], \qquad (C.10)$$

with

$$\mathcal{B}(z) = \frac{(3z^4 - 1)\mathcal{U}(z) - z\sqrt{z^4 - 1}}{3K(-1)z^4}.$$
(C.11)

This of course runs with the energy, identified with the holographic radial coordinate, and interpolates smoothly between $\mathcal{B}(\infty) = 1$ and $\mathcal{B}(1) = 0$. Its UV and IR values are

$$b_{\infty} = -\frac{Q_c}{4\pi q_c \ell_s^2} + \frac{2q_c K (-1)}{\pi \rho_0 \ell_s^2}, \qquad b_{\rm IR} = -\frac{Q_c}{4\pi q_c \ell_s^2}.$$
(C.12)

This forces

$$Q_c = 0 \tag{C.13}$$

if we want this flux to vanish at the point where the two-sphere shrinks, as it should if the background is to be regular. Following eq. (B.24), this seems to indicate that there are no (ordinary) D2-branes on the background. Nevertheless, as we have observed the warp

factor does not depend on Q_c . Moreover, it has the asymptotic behavior of a D2-brane, which in our radial coordinate would be

$$h = \frac{16 \, Q_{\text{D2}}}{5 \, \rho^5} \,, \tag{C.14}$$

with Q_{D2} quantized as Q_c in (B.24). Comparing with (C.6), this suggests an identification of the parameter ρ_0 , which has dimensions of length, as (see [43] for an equivalent identification)

$$\rho_0 = \frac{8 q_c^2 K (-1)}{Q_{D2}} = \frac{3 g_s \ell_s K (-1)}{2} \frac{M^2}{N}.$$
(C.15)

Using this, the difference between the UV and IR values of the two-form flux is exactly

$$b_{\infty} - b_{\rm IR} = b_{\infty} = \frac{2q_c K (-1)}{\pi \rho_0 \ell_s^2} = \frac{N}{M}.$$
 (C.16)

It is also instructive to compute the Maxwell charges for the D2- and D4-branes

$$N_4^{\text{Max}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2 T_{\text{D4}}} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^2} F_4 ,$$

$$N_2^{\text{Max}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2 T_{\text{D2}}} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^3} (-*F_4) .$$
(C.17)

The one for the D4 brane does not run and coincides with the Page charge. Taking already $Q_c = 0$, the one for the D2-branes reads

$$N_2^{\text{Max}} = \frac{64\pi^3}{3g_s \left(2\pi\ell_s\right)^5} \left[2a_J \left(b_J + b_X\right) + q_c \left(b_X - b_J\right)\right].$$
(C.18)

This charge vanishes in the IR, while it takes the UV value

$$N_{\rm UV}^{\rm Max} = \frac{16\sqrt{2}q_c^2\Gamma\left(5/4\right)^2}{3\rho_0 g_s \ell_s^5 \pi^{5/2}} = N \,, \tag{C.19}$$

where we have used in the last step the identification (C.15). This means that we have lost exactly N branes from the UV to the IR, suggesting the cascade

$$U(N) \times U(N+M) \rightarrow U(M) \tag{C.20}$$

whose IR is confining.

Each step of the cascade proceeds as follows. The quantized Page charges for ordinary D2- and D4-branes are not gauge invariant, since they change under a large gauge transformation for B_2 . This is because we can add to the NS-form a closed but non-exact piece

$$B_2 \to B_2 + \mathcal{B}\left(X_2 - J_2\right),\tag{C.21}$$

with \mathcal{B} constant, that does not change the supergravity solution but does alter the Page charges, as seen in (B.23). Changing the flux (C.10) by one unit corresponds to $\mathcal{B} = \pi \ell_s^2$.

The quantities that do not change under this transformation are the Maxwell charges (C.17). Indeed, this large gauge transformation can be seen as the shift in the Page charges

$$b_{\infty} \to b_{\infty} - 1$$
, $N \to N + M$, $M \to M$, (C.22)

under which the Maxwell charges are invariant.

Crucially, the correct gravitational description requires the two-form flux to be in the range (0, 1). If that is not the case, we can add or subtract one unit of flux to put it back to the correct range. Imagine that we follow the flow from the IR, where the gauge theory is expected to be purely U(M). As we flow towards the UV, the two-form flux (C.10) (with $Q_c = 0$), which was initially vanishing, grows. The moment it reaches 1, we perform a gauge transformation to put it back to zero, so the rank of the gauge groups in the dual field theory jumps M units to

$$U(M) \rightarrow U(M) \times U(2M)$$
. (C.23)

The flux will then continue growing, and when it reaches unity again we perform once more a gauge transformation that shifts the rank M units. This continues as long as the flux can grow above 1. Since it is bounded by b_{∞} in (C.16),¹¹ this can happen N/M times, resulting in the UV gauge group stated in (C.20). Notice that if N/M is not an integer, the last step of the cascade in the IR would take us to

$$U(p) \times U(p+M). \tag{C.24}$$

There are now two possibilities. If $p \ll M$ the second gauge group is weakly ('t Hooft) coupled and its dynamics plays no role in our supergravity approximation, the background being equal to the one with p = 0 to leading order in M. On the other hand, if $p \sim M$ the flux due to this additional D2-branes should be included, resulting in a singularity and the spoiling of confinement. See [6] for the analogous discussion in the four-dimensional case.

D Calculation of the monopole-antimonopole action

The ten-dimensional string-frame metric and dilaton are given in (3.3). Consider a D2brane wrapping the \mathbb{CP}^1 two-cycle and extended in the radial direction and on a curve in the (x_1, x_2) -plane, with an embedding profile $X_1 = x(r)$, $X_2 = y(r)$. The induced metric on the brane is

$$ds_{D2}^{2} = \frac{h^{\frac{1}{2}}}{b} \left[1 + \frac{b}{h} \left((x')^{2} + (y')^{2} \right) \right] dr^{2} + h^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{2g} \left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta \, d\varphi^{2} \right) \,. \tag{D.1}$$

The D2-brane also couples to the components of the B_2 field along the two-cycle, whose pullback reads

$$P[B_2] = b_X P[X_2] = b_X \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta \wedge \mathrm{d}\varphi \,. \tag{D.2}$$

¹¹This is in sharp contrast with the cascade on the conifold [6], whose two-form flux is not bounded and grows indefinitely towards the UV, resulting in infinitely many duality steps. This might be a reflection of the fact that three-dimensional Yang-Mills theories are asymptotically free.

It is possible to turn on a magnetic field on the brane along those same directions

$$2\pi \ell_s^2 F = \beta_2 P\left[X_2\right] = \beta_2 \sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\theta \wedge \mathrm{d}\varphi \,. \tag{D.3}$$

Finally, we need to take into account the pullback of the RR one-form C_1 on the D2-brane worldvolume

$$P[C_1] = g_s \ell_s \frac{M^2}{N} \frac{\mathsf{B}}{2} (xy' - yx') \,\mathrm{d}r \,. \tag{D.4}$$

In Euclidean signature, the Dirac-Born-Infeld (DBI) part of the D2-brane action is then

$$S_{\rm DBI} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 g_s \ell_s^3} \int_{\rm D2} d^3 \eta \, e^{-\Phi} \sqrt{g_{\rm D2} + B_2 + 2\pi \ell_s^2 F} \\ = \frac{1}{\pi g_s \ell_s^3} \int dr \, \left(\frac{h}{b}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{2g - \Lambda} \sqrt{\left(1 + \frac{b}{h} \left[(x')^2 + (y')^2\right]\right) \left(1 + h^{-1} e^{-4g} \left(b_X + \beta_2\right)^2\right)}.$$
(D.5)

On the other hand, the Wess-Zumino (WZ) terms are

$$S_{\rm WZ} = -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 g_s \ell_s^3} \int_{\rm D2} C_1 \wedge \left(B_2 + 2\pi \ell_s^2 F\right) = -\frac{M^2}{N} \frac{\mathsf{B}}{2\pi \ell_s^2} \int \mathrm{d}r \, \left(xy' - yx'\right) \left(b_X + \beta_2\right) \,. \tag{D.6}$$

When the magnetic field is vanishing, B = 0, the configuration that becomes tensionless in the IR has $\beta_2 = 0$. At the boundary, the D2-brane carries an amount of D0 charge that is determined by the WZ coupling

$$S_{\rm WZ} = -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^2 g_s \ell_s^3} \left(\lim_{r \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{CP}^1} B_2 \right) \int C_1 = -\frac{1}{g_s \ell_s} \frac{N}{M} \int C_1 \,. \tag{D.7}$$

Therefore this wrapped D2 corresponds to a bound state of a D2-brane and N/M D0-branes.

D.1 Vanishing magnetic field

In the absence of magnetic field, B = 0, the WZ term vanishes, and the embedding can lie along one of the directions in the (x_1, x_2) -plane. For definiteness, we will take $X_2 = y = 0$ and $X_1 = x(r)$. From (D.5) we can derive the equation of motion for the embedding, using that x is a cyclic variable

$$\left(\frac{\mathsf{b}}{h}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{2g-\Lambda} \sqrt{1+h^{-1}e^{-4g}\left(b_X+\beta_2\right)^2} \frac{x'}{\sqrt{1+\frac{\mathsf{b}}{h}(x')^2}} = p_x \,, \tag{D.8}$$

with p_x an integration constant. Solving for x' we get

$$x' = \left(\frac{h}{b}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{p_x}{\sqrt{A^2 - p_x^2}}, \qquad A = e^{2g - \Lambda} \sqrt{1 + h^{-1} e^{-4g} \left(b_X + \beta_2\right)^2}.$$
(D.9)

For a connected configuration, it is possible to relate the integration constant with the lowest point in the radial direction reached by the embedding, r_* , as

$$p_x = A(r_*) \equiv A_* \,. \tag{D.10}$$

Therefore, the separation between the monopole and anti-monopole at the boundary is

$$L = 2 A_* \int_{r_*}^{\infty} dr \, \frac{h^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{\sqrt{A^2 - A_*^2}} \,. \tag{D.11}$$

In terms of the dimensionless functions and radial coordinate defined in (E.1), (E.2) and (3.16) this reads

$$L = \ell_{\rm D2} \,\mathcal{A}_* \int_0^{\xi_*} \frac{d\xi}{\xi^2 \sqrt{1 - \xi^4}} \,\frac{\mathbf{h}^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{\sqrt{\mathcal{A}^2 - \mathcal{A}_*^2}} \,, \tag{D.12}$$

where we have defined

$$\mathcal{A} = e^{2\mathcal{G} - \Lambda} \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{32} \mathbf{h}^{-1} e^{-4\mathcal{G}} (\mathcal{B}_X - \bar{\beta}_2)^2}, \qquad \beta_2 = \frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} \bar{\beta}_2.$$
(D.13)

The characteristic length scale is

$$\ell_{\rm D2} = 2\rho_0 \left(\frac{128q_c^2}{9\rho_0^6}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{16\sqrt{2}\pi}{|b_0|^2} \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^{-1} \,. \tag{D.14}$$

Introducing (D.9) in the action (D.5), one finds

$$S_{\rm D2} = \frac{1}{\pi g_s \ell_s^3} \int \mathrm{d}r \, \frac{h^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, A^2}{\sqrt{A^2 - A_*^2}} \,. \tag{D.15}$$

The disconnected configuration corresponds to the case where the branes reach the bottom of the geometry, $r_* = r_0$, and therefore $A_* = p_x = 0$. Then, the difference in the action between the connected and disconnected configurations is

$$\Delta S_{\rm D2} = \frac{2}{\pi g_s \ell_s^3} \left[\int_{r_*}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}r \left(\frac{h^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, A^2}{\sqrt{A^2 - A_*^2}} - h^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, A \right) - \int_{r_0}^{r_*} \mathrm{d}r \, h^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, A \right] \\ = \mathcal{N}_{\rm D2} \left[\int_0^{\xi_*} \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{\xi^2 \sqrt{1 - \xi^4}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{h}^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathcal{A}^2}{\sqrt{\mathcal{A}^2 - \mathcal{A}_*^2}} - \mathbf{h}^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathcal{A} \right) - \int_{\xi_*}^1 \frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{\xi^2 \sqrt{1 - \xi^4}} \, \mathbf{h}^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathsf{b}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathcal{A} \right] \,, \tag{D.16}$$

where

$$\mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{D2}} = 4\sqrt{2}\,M.\tag{D.17}$$

The dominant configuration will be the one with least action, so the point where $\Delta S_{D2} = 0$ determines the screening length for the monopoles. In addition, there is maximal possible separation L for the connected configuration.

E Numerics

In this appendix we give some details of the numerical strategy, including the boundary conditions (expansions) imposed both at the UV and the two possible IRs. These expansion are available to use upon request.

In solving the equations numerically, it will be convenient to work with dimensionless quantities by rescaling the fields. For the functions in the metric we take

$$e^{2f} = \rho_0^2 e^{2\mathcal{F}}, \qquad e^{2g} = \rho_0^2 e^{2\mathcal{G}}, \qquad h = \frac{128 \, q_c^2}{9\rho_0^6} \,\mathbf{h}\,, \qquad (E.1)$$

with ρ_0 some constant with dimensions of length.¹² Similarly, the scalars are redefined to

$$b_J = \frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} \,\mathcal{B}_J, \qquad b_X = -\frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} \,\mathcal{B}_X, \qquad a_J = -\frac{q_c}{2} - q_c \,\mathcal{A}_J, \qquad (E.2)$$

while the vector potentials and magnetic field are written as

$$a_t = \frac{\rho_0^3}{q_c} \mathcal{A}_t, \qquad \hat{a}_t = \rho_0^2 \,\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_t, \qquad \tilde{a}_t = \rho_0^2 \,\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_t, \qquad \mathsf{B} = \frac{1}{g_s \ell_s} \frac{N}{M^2} \frac{\rho_0^5}{q_c^2} \,\overline{b} \,. \tag{E.3}$$

The functions e^{Λ} and **b** are already dimensionless and do not need rescaling. Written in terms of the dimensionless radial coordinate ξ defined in (3.16) and the rescaled functions in (E.1), (E.2) and (E.3), the dimensionful quantities ρ_0 and q_c factor out and one ends up with a completely dimensionless set of equations.

E.1 UV expansion

The expansion of the dimensionless functions compatible with the desired D2-brane UV asymptotics takes the following form¹³

$$e^{2\mathcal{F}} = \left(\frac{1}{2\xi^2}\right) \left(1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{f}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi\right),$$

$$e^{2\mathcal{G}} = \left(\frac{1}{4\xi^2}\right) \left(1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{g}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi\right),$$

$$e^{2\Lambda} = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{I}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi,,$$

$$\mathbf{b} = 1 + \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{b}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi,,$$

$$\mathbf{b} = 1 + \sum_{k=5}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{b}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi,,$$

$$\mathcal{A}_J = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{A}_{J;l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi,,$$

$$\mathcal{B}_J = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{B}_{J;l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi,,$$

$$\mathcal{A}_t = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{A}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi,,$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_t = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{A}_{l,k}^{\mathrm{UV}} \xi^k \log^l \xi.$$
(E.4)

¹²The notation is not accidental, as it coincides with the parameter ρ_0 for the ground state solution in appendix C. Notice that, as seen in (3.8), the parameter q_c has dimensions of length cubed.

¹³The logarithms appear at a relatively high order; for instance, in the metric function $e^{2\mathcal{F}}$, the first non-vanishing coefficients in log ξ and log² ξ are $\mathbf{f}_{1,9}^{\text{UV}}$ and $\mathbf{f}_{2,18}^{\text{UV}}$ respectively. Moreover, all of them vanish if the magnetic field is set to zero.

Some parameters in these series are left undetermined by the equations, while the rest are given in terms of them. We chose the free coefficients in the previous expansions to be

$\mathbf{f}_{0,4}^{ ext{UV}}$	$\mathbf{f}_{0,5}^{ ext{UV}}$	$\mathbf{f}_{0,10}^{ ext{UV}}$	$\mathbf{B}_{J;0,0}^{\scriptscriptstyle ext{UV}}$	$\mathbf{B}_{J;0,4}^{\scriptscriptstyle ext{UV}}$	$\mathbf{B}_{J;0,6}^{\scriptscriptstyle ext{UV}}$
f_4	f_5	f_{10}	b_0	b_4	b_6
$\mathbf{B}_{J;0,9}^{\mathrm{UV}}$	$\mathbf{b}_{0,5}^{\mathrm{UV}}$	$\mathbf{A}_{0,0}^{\mathrm{UV}}$	$\mathbf{A}_{0,1}^{\mathrm{UV}}$	$\widetilde{\mathbf{A}}_{0,4}^{\mathrm{UV}}$	$\widehat{\mathbf{A}}_{0,5}^{\scriptscriptstyle\mathrm{UV}}$
b_9	\mathbf{b}_5	v_0	v_1	v_4	v_5

We rename them as in the second row for the sake of clarity. This is the notation used in the bulk of the paper. In terms of these independent coefficients the expansions read

$$e^{2\mathcal{F}} = \frac{1}{2\xi^2} \left(1 + f_4 \xi^4 + f_5 \xi^5 + \dots + f_{10} \xi^{10} + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^{11}\right) \right), \qquad e^{2\mathcal{G}} = \frac{1}{4\xi^2} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^4\right) \right),$$

$$e^{2\Lambda} = 1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^5\right), \qquad \mathbf{h} = -\frac{3b_0}{5} \xi^5 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^6\right), \qquad \mathbf{b} = 1 + \mathbf{b}_5 \xi^5 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^6\right),$$

$$\mathcal{B}_J = b_0 + \dots + b_4 \xi^4 + \dots + b_6 \xi^6 + \dots + b_9 \xi^9 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^{10}\right),$$

$$\mathcal{B}_X = b_0 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi\right), \qquad \mathcal{A}_J = -\frac{2}{3} + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi\right), \qquad \mathcal{A}_t = v_0 + v_1 \xi + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^2\right),$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_t = \frac{2b_0 v_1}{15} \xi + \dots + v_5 \xi^5 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^6\right), \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_t = -\frac{2b_0 v_1}{15} \xi + \dots + v_4 \xi^4 + \mathcal{O}\left(\xi^5\right).$$
(E.5)

The parameter $\mathbf{f}_{0,1}^{\text{UV}}$ is also free. However, it is related to a shift in the original radial coordinate r,

$$r \mapsto r + a$$
, (E.6)

and we are free to set it to zero, $\mathbf{f}_{0,1}^{\text{UV}} = 0$. Some modes, such as f_{10} and b_9 , appear at a relatively high order. Thus, we reached a high order in the expansion so that they could be resolved in our numerical procedure. Namely, we solved up to the term $\mathbf{f}_{0,20}^{\text{UV}}\xi^{20}$ in the $e^{2\mathcal{F}}$ function and the corresponding terms in the rest of the functions which are solved at the same order. Below, we show the coefficients that appear in the renormalized action (B.52), and therefore are needed to obtain the thermodynamic quantities, in terms of the undetermined ones.

Coefficients appearing in $e^{2\mathcal{F}}$:

$$\mathbf{f}_{0,1}^{\text{UV}} = \mathbf{f}_{0,2}^{\text{UV}} = \mathbf{f}_{0,3}^{\text{UV}} = 0.$$
 (E.7)

Coefficients appearing in $e^{2\mathcal{G}}$:

$$\mathbf{g}_{0,1}^{\text{UV}} = \mathbf{g}_{0,2}^{\text{UV}} = \mathbf{g}_{0,3}^{\text{UV}} = 0, \qquad \mathbf{g}_{0,4}^{\text{UV}} = -2f_4 - 1, \qquad \mathbf{g}_{0,5}^{\text{UV}} = f_5.$$
 (E.8)

Coefficients appearing in e^{Λ} :

$$\mathbf{l}_{0,1}^{UV} = \mathbf{l}_{0,2}^{UV} = \mathbf{l}_{0,3}^{UV} = \mathbf{l}_{0,4}^{UV} = 0, \qquad \mathbf{l}_{0,5}^{UV} = f_5.$$
(E.9)

Coefficients appearing in \mathcal{B}_J :

$$\mathbf{B}_{J;0,1}^{\text{UV}} = 4, \qquad \mathbf{B}_{J;0,2}^{\text{UV}} = \mathbf{B}_{J;0,3}^{\text{UV}} = 0, \qquad \mathbf{B}_{J;0,5}^{\text{UV}} = \frac{2}{5} \left(16f_4 + 7\right). \quad (E.10)$$

Coefficients appearing in \mathcal{B}_X :

$$\mathbf{B}_{X;0,0}^{UV} = b_0, \qquad \mathbf{B}_{X;0,1}^{UV} = 4, \qquad \mathbf{B}_{X;0,2}^{UV} = \mathbf{B}_{X;0,3}^{UV} = 0,
\mathbf{B}_{X;0,4}^{UV} = -\frac{b_4}{2}, \qquad \mathbf{B}_{X;0,5}^{UV} = -\frac{2}{5} (14f_4 + 3).$$
(E.11)

Coefficients appearing in \mathcal{A}_J :

$$\mathbf{A}_{J;0,0}^{\text{UV}} = -\frac{2}{3}, \qquad \mathbf{A}_{J;0,1}^{\text{UV}} = 0.$$
 (E.12)

Coefficients appearing in h:

$$\mathbf{h}_{0,0}^{\text{UV}} = -\frac{3b_0}{5}, \quad \mathbf{h}_{0,1}^{\text{UV}} = -2, \qquad \mathbf{h}_{0,2}^{\text{UV}} = 0,$$

$$\mathbf{h}_{0,3}^{\text{UV}} = 0, \qquad \mathbf{h}_{0,4}^{\text{UV}} = -\frac{b_0}{2}, \quad \mathbf{h}_{0,5}^{\text{UV}} = \frac{1}{50} \left(45b_0f_5 + 24f_4 - 92\right),$$
(E.13)

Coefficients appearing in $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_t$:

$$\widehat{\mathbf{A}}_{0,1}^{\text{UV}} = \frac{2}{15} b_0 v_1 \,, \tag{E.14}$$

Coefficients appearing in $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_t$:

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{A}}_{0,1}^{\rm UV} = -\frac{2}{15} b_0 v_1 \,, \tag{E.15}$$

Imposing that the different backgrounds have the same leading asymptotic behaviour — except for \mathcal{A}_t , whose leading term v_0 is related to the chemical potential — forces a relation between the parameter b_0 and the length scale ρ_0 . This is most easily seen in the scalars b_J and b_X . Their leading terms in the UV are

$$b_J = \frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} \mathcal{B}_J = \frac{2q_c}{3} \frac{b_0}{\rho_0} + \cdots, \qquad b_X = -\frac{2q_c}{3\rho_0} \mathcal{B}_X = -\frac{2q_c}{3} \frac{b_0}{\rho_0} + \cdots, \quad (E.16)$$

so the ratio b_0/ρ_0 must be held fixed in comparing different solutions. To fix its value, we demand that the warp factor h in the metric has the asymptotic behaviour of a D2-brane, which in our conventions is

$$h = \frac{16}{5} \frac{Q_{\text{D2}}}{r^5} + \dots = \frac{128 \, q_c^2}{15 \rho_0^6} \, |b_0| \, \xi^5 + \dots \,. \tag{E.17}$$

Using that the relation between radial coordinates is $r = \rho_0/\xi$ in the asymptotic UV, one gets

$$\frac{\rho_0}{b_0} = -\frac{8}{3} \frac{q_c^2}{Q_{\rm D2}} = -\frac{\ell_s^2}{2} \lambda \frac{M^2}{N^2} \,, \tag{E.18}$$

where in the last step we assumed that the D2-brane charge $Q_{D2} = 3\pi^2 \ell_s^5 g_s N$ is quantized in the usual manner (see eq. (B.24)). This argument is analogous to that leading to (C.15) in appendix C.1 for the ground state by selecting the appropriate value $b_0 = -3K(-1)$, with K(m) the complete elliptic integral of the first kind.

Let us now discuss the two different IR boundary conditions. These correspond to two different phases in the dual gauge theory.

E.2 Magnetized confining phase

This is a background at finite magnetic field sharing the IR boundary conditions with the ground state. In particular, the two-sphere collapses in a smooth manner while S^4 remains at finite size (see eq. (C.3)). Moreover, curvature invariants remain finite everywhere.

To be precise, in the radial coordinate (3.16), with the IR located at $\xi \to 1$, the equations admit the following perturbative solution

$$e^{2\mathcal{F}} = f_{\rm IR} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{1}, \qquad e^{2\mathcal{G}} = \frac{1-\xi}{b_{\rm IR}} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{2}, \qquad e^{\Lambda} = \lambda_{\rm IR} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{1}, \\ \mathbf{b} = \mathbf{b}_{\rm IR} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{1}, \qquad \mathbf{h} = \mathbf{h}_{\rm IR} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{1}, \qquad \mathcal{B}_{J} = \chi_{J}(1-\xi)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{\frac{3}{2}}, \\ \mathcal{B}_{X} = \chi_{X}(1-\xi)^{\frac{3}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{\frac{5}{2}}, \quad \mathcal{A}_{J} = -1 + \alpha_{J}(1-\xi) + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{2}, \\ \mathcal{A}_{t} = \alpha_{\rm IR}(1-\xi) + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{2}, \qquad \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{t} = \hat{\alpha}_{\rm IR}(1-\xi)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{\frac{3}{2}}, \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_{t} = \mathcal{O}(1-\xi)^{\frac{3}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(E.19)

The equations admit constant terms for the vector potentials. However, the ones for $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_t$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_t$ must be set to zero in order to prevent a non-vanishing flux on the collapsing two-sphere in the IR.¹⁴ Additionally, we fix the constant parameter of the massless vector \mathcal{A}_t to zero, since one can always use gauge invariance to shift its value and we are keeping the analogous parameter v_0 in the UV. The constant parameters we made explicit are the ones that we chose to leave undetermined by the equations of motion.

As we mentioned, this IR boundary condition gives rise to a regular ten-dimensional metric. Indeed, solving the change of coordinates (3.16) perturbatively in the IR, one finds that

$$1 - \xi = \frac{1}{\rho_0^2} (r - r_0)^2 - \frac{11}{6\rho_0^4} (r - r_0)^4 + \frac{71}{18\rho_0^6} (r - r_0)^6 + \mathcal{O} (r - r_0)^8 .$$
 (E.20)

Substituting in the metric ansatz

$$ds^{2} \approx \frac{3\rho_{0}^{3}}{8q_{c}\sqrt{2}}\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{IR}}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\left(-\mathbf{b}_{\mathrm{IR}}dt^{2} + dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2}\right) + \frac{8q_{c}\sqrt{2}}{3\rho_{0}^{3}}\frac{\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{IR}}^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\mathbf{b}_{\mathrm{IR}}}\left(dr^{2} + (r - r_{0})^{2}\left[\left(E^{1}\right)^{2} + \left(E^{2}\right)^{2}\right]\right) + \frac{8q_{c}\sqrt{2}}{3\rho_{0}}\mathbf{h}_{\mathrm{IR}}^{\frac{1}{2}}f_{\mathrm{IR}}d\Omega_{4}^{2},$$
(E.21)

where we are keeping only the leading order in $(r - r_0)$ for every metric component. From this we see that the metric is regular, as the S² shrinks smoothly and the transverse topology becomes that of an \mathbb{R}^3 bundle over S⁴, exactly as in the ground state geometry (C.3).

The UV and IR asymptotic expansions leave us with undetermined parameters that have to be found via numerical shooting methods. For each choice of magnetic field, the set of parameters we shoot for is

$$\{ f_4, f_5, f_{10}, b_4, b_6, b_9; \mathbf{b}_5; b_0; v_0; v_1, v_4, v_5; f_{\rm IR}, \mathbf{b}_{\rm IR}, \lambda_{\rm IR}, \chi_J, \chi_X, \alpha_J, \mathbf{h}_{\rm IR}, \alpha_{\rm IR}, \hat{\alpha}_{\rm IR} \} .$$
(E.22)

¹⁴The equations of motion set $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_t = -\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_t$ in the IR. However, they leave undetermined the component $C_3 \supset \widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_t dt \wedge X_2$. Since X_2 is a collapsing cycle, regularity forces this term to vanish in the IR.

The first 6 are UV parameters associated to normalizable modes in the scalar sector comprising six non-axionic scalars, as seen in (B.30) — and would correspond to vacuum expectation values on the field theory dual. The parameter b_5 is a metric deformation allowed by the breaking of three-dimensional Lorentz invariance, in this case due to the magnetic field/chemical potential. The constant b_0 appears in the leading term of the scalars b_J and b_X , as well as the warp factor h, and is also determined numerically. Since the ratio in (3.17) must be kept fixed, this forces us to change ρ_0 accordingly for each solution.

The parameter v_0 is the leading term in the expansion of the massless vector and therefore controls the chemical potential associated to the $U_{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ symmetry. Its value will be determined by the shooting procedure, but, since the gauge invariance of the equations allows us to shift a_t by an arbitrary constant, we can construct confining solutions with an arbitrary chemical potential. Equivalently, one could have retained the undetermined constant in the IR expansion of the vector potential, since the boundary conditions allow it, and determine it numerically for any fixed value of the chemical potential. This is in contrast with the black hole case, in which regularity forces the vector potential to vanish at the non-extremal horizon.

The parameter v_1 is the subleading term in the expansion of the massless vector and as such it will be related to the charge density, while v_4 and v_5 are the normalizable modes in the massive vector potentials and thus correspond to vacuum expectation values for their dual operators. Finally, the remaining 9 constants are simply IR parameters to be found numerically.

Once the magnetic field is fixed, there are in total 21 parameters to be determined by the numerical procedure. This matches the number of degrees of freedom of our system of equations (see section 3.1), which consist of 11 second order differential equations subject to a first order constraint. This means that, for every value of the temperature and chemical potential, there is a one-parameter family of solutions labelled by the magnetic field \bar{b} .

E.3 Magnetized plasma phase

These deconfined states correspond in the gravity dual to non-extremal black branes at non-vanishing magnetic field. In order to have a horizon the blackening factor **b** must have a simple zero. On the other hand, both the scalars and the rest of the metric functions reach a finite value at the horizon. Denoting the position of the horizon as $\xi = \xi_h$ in the dimensionless radial coordinate introduced in equation (3.16), this implies

$$\mathcal{A}_{J} = A_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), \qquad \mathcal{B}_{J} = J_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), \qquad \mathcal{B}_{X} = X_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), e^{2\mathcal{F}} = f_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), \qquad e^{2\mathcal{G}} = g_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), \qquad e^{\Lambda} = \lambda_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), \mathbf{h} = h_{h} + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h}), \qquad \mathbf{b} = \mathbf{b}_{h}(\xi - \xi_{h}) + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_{h})^{2}$$
(E.23)

Regularity at the horizon implies additionally that the time component of the vectors must vanish, so they verify an expansion of the form

$$\mathcal{A}_t = \alpha_h(\xi - \xi_h) + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_h)^2 , \qquad \widehat{\mathcal{A}}_t = \hat{\alpha}_h(\xi - \xi_h) + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_h)^2 ,
\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}_t = \tilde{\alpha}_h(\xi - \xi_h) + \mathcal{O}(\xi - \xi_h)^2 ,$$
(E.24)

All the subleading coefficients are fixed in terms of these eleven leading-order parameters. In this way, the constants that are determined by the numerical procedure are

 ${f_4, f_5, f_{10}, b_4, b_6, b_9; b_5; v_1, v_4, v_5; f_h, g_h, b_h, \lambda_h, J_h, X_h, A_h, h_h, \alpha_h, \hat{\alpha}_h, \tilde{\alpha}_h}.$ (E.25)

The first ten are UV parameters and have the same meaning as in the previous section. For these solutions we fix the parameter b_0 to its ground-state value, $b_0 = -3K(-1)$, as in [16]. The remaining eleven are horizon parameters that control physical properties such as the entropy and temperature. The total number matches again the degrees of freedom of our system of equations. This leaves three unfixed control parameters: v_0 , ξ_h and \bar{b} or, equivalently, the chemical potential, the temperature and the magnetic field, describing a three-parameter family of black branes.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- [1] Y. Aoki et al., The Order of the quantum chromodynamics transition predicted by the standard model of particle physics, Nature 443 (2006) 675 [hep-lat/0611014] [INSPIRE].
- [2] T. Bhattacharya et al., QCD Phase Transition with Chiral Quarks and Physical Quark Masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 082001 [arXiv:1402.5175] [INSPIRE].
- [3] P. de Forcrand, Simulating QCD at finite density, PoS LAT2009 (2009) 010
 [arXiv:1005.0539] [INSPIRE].
- [4] N. Brambilla et al., QCD and Strongly Coupled Gauge Theories: Challenges and Perspectives, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 2981 [arXiv:1404.3723] [INSPIRE].
- [5] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space, thermal phase transition, and confinement in gauge theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 505 [hep-th/9803131] [INSPIRE].
- [6] I.R. Klebanov and M.J. Strassler, Supergravity and a confining gauge theory: Duality cascades and chi SB resolution of naked singularities, JHEP 08 (2000) 052
 [hep-th/0007191] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A.M. Polyakov, Quark Confinement and Topology of Gauge Groups, Nucl. Phys. B 120 (1977) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [8] T.A. DeGrand and D. Toussaint, The Potential in Lattice U(1) Gauge Theory, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 466 [INSPIRE].
- [9] A.F. Faedo, D. Mateos, D. Pravos and J.G. Subils, Mass Gap without Confinement, JHEP 06 (2017) 153 [arXiv:1702.05988] [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Cvetic, G.W. Gibbons, H. Lu and C.N. Pope, New complete noncompact spin(7) manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 620 (2002) 29 [hep-th/0103155] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Cvetic, G.W. Gibbons, H. Lu and C.N. Pope, Supersymmetric nonsingular fractional D-2 branes and NS NS 2 branes, Nucl. Phys. B 606 (2001) 18 [hep-th/0101096] [INSPIRE].

- [12] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N=6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
 [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [13] O. Aharony, O. Bergman and D.L. Jafferis, Fractional M2-branes, JHEP 11 (2008) 043
 [arXiv:0807.4924] [INSPIRE].
- [14] V. Bashmakov, J. Gomis, Z. Komargodski and A. Sharon, Phases of N = 1 theories in 2 + 1 dimensions, JHEP 07 (2018) 123 [arXiv:1802.10130] [INSPIRE].
- [15] V. Bashmakov and N. Gorini, Phases of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ quivers in 2 + 1 dimensions, JHEP 07 (2022) 110 [arXiv:2109.11862] [INSPIRE].
- [16] D. Elander, A.F. Faedo, D. Mateos and J.G. Subils, Phase transitions in a three-dimensional analogue of Klebanov-Strassler, JHEP 06 (2020) 131 [arXiv:2002.08279] [INSPIRE].
- [17] N. Parga, Finite Temperature Behavior of Topological Excitations in Lattice Compact QED, Phys. Lett. B 107 (1981) 442 [INSPIRE].
- [18] P.D. Coddington, A.J.G. Hey, A.A. Middleton and J.S. Townsend, The Deconfining Transition for Finite Temperature U(1) Lattice Gauge Theory in (2+1)-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 175 (1986) 64 [INSPIRE].
- [19] M.N. Chernodub, E.-M. Ilgenfritz and A. Schiller, A Lattice study of 3-D compact QED at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 054507 [hep-lat/0105021] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Caselle, A. Nada, M. Panero and D. Vadacchino, Conformal field theory and the hot phase of three-dimensional U(1) gauge theory, JHEP 05 (2019) 068 [arXiv:1903.00491] [INSPIRE].
- [21] O. Bergman, Y. Tachikawa and G. Zafrir, *Generalized symmetries and holography in ABJM-type theories*, *JHEP* **07** (2020) 077 [arXiv:2004.05350] [INSPIRE].
- [22] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Electric magnetic duality, monopole condensation, and confinement in N=2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Nucl. Phys. B 426 (1994) 19 [hep-th/9407087] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Loewy and Y. Oz, Branes in special holonomy backgrounds, Phys. Lett. B 537 (2002) 147 [hep-th/0203092] [INSPIRE].
- [24] I.R. Klebanov and E. Witten, Superconformal field theory on three-branes at a Calabi-Yau singularity, Nucl. Phys. B 536 (1998) 199 [hep-th/9807080] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Karch, Seiberg duality in three-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 405 (1997) 79
 [hep-th/9703172] [INSPIRE].
- [26] O. Aharony, IR duality in d = 3 N=2 supersymmetric USp(2N(c)) and U(N(c)) gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 404 (1997) 71 [hep-th/9703215] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Hashimoto, S. Hirano and P. Ouyang, Branes and fluxes in special holonomy manifolds and cascading field theories, JHEP 06 (2011) 101 [arXiv:1004.0903] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D. Elander et al., Mass spectrum of gapped, non-confining theories with multi-scale dynamics, JHEP 05 (2019) 175 [arXiv:1810.04656] [INSPIRE].
- [29] N. Jokela and J.G. Subils, *Is entanglement a probe of confinement?*, *JHEP* **02** (2021) 147 [arXiv:2010.09392] [INSPIRE].
- [30] O. Aharony, A. Hashimoto, S. Hirano and P. Ouyang, D-brane Charges in Gravitational Duals of 2+1 Dimensional Gauge Theories and Duality Cascades, JHEP 01 (2010) 072 [arXiv:0906.2390] [INSPIRE].

- [31] L. McLerran and R.D. Pisarski, Phases of cold, dense quarks at large N(c), Nucl. Phys. A 796 (2007) 83 [arXiv:0706.2191] [INSPIRE].
- [32] I.R. Klebanov, D. Kutasov and A. Murugan, Entanglement as a probe of confinement, Nucl. Phys. B 796 (2008) 274 [arXiv:0709.2140] [INSPIRE].
- [33] O. Saremi and D.T. Son, Hall viscosity from gauge/gravity duality, JHEP 04 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1103.4851] [INSPIRE].
- [34] K.A. Intriligator and N. Seiberg, Mirror symmetry in three-dimensional gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 387 (1996) 513 [hep-th/9607207] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Hanany and E. Witten, Type IIB superstrings, BPS monopoles, and three-dimensional gauge dynamics, Nucl. Phys. B 492 (1997) 152 [hep-th/9611230] [INSPIRE].
- [36] O. Aharony et al., Aspects of N=2 supersymmetric gauge theories in three-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 499 (1997) 67 [hep-th/9703110] [INSPIRE].
- [37] M. Gremm and E. Katz, Mirror symmetry for N=1 QED in three-dimensions, JHEP 02 (2000) 008 [hep-th/9906020] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Gukov and D. Tong, *D*-brane probes of special holonomy manifolds, and dynamics of N = 1 three-dimensional gauge theories, *JHEP* **04** (2002) 050 [hep-th/0202126] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Gukov and D. Tong, D-brane probes of G(2) holonomy manifolds, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 087901 [hep-th/0202125] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Faedo, C. Hoyos and J.G. Subils, *Holographic baryonic matter without flavor branes*, in preparation.
- [41] D. Cassani and A.-K. Kashani-Poor, Exploiting N=2 in consistent coset reductions of type IIA, Nucl. Phys. B 817 (2009) 25 [arXiv:0901.4251] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. Hoyos, F. Peña-Benitez and P. Witkowski, Hall Viscosity in a Strongly Coupled Magnetized Plasma, JHEP 08 (2019) 146 [arXiv:1906.04752] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C.P. Herzog, String tensions and three-dimensional confining gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 065009 [hep-th/0205064] [INSPIRE].